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LD WATERFORD S 0CIETY

It is intended to meke DECIES 15 (Sept.lQBO) an index volume to the previous
fourteen issues and then to heogin a new series of DECIES. As indexing is a
rather tetious process we would be grateful for any help offered.

Due to the postal strike some of our contributors have not had the opporturdty

to check the prcofs of their secripts and we apclogise in advence for any
errors that may have occurred.

REPORT OF 4. Go M.

The Annual General Meeting of the O, W, 5. was held March 23rd, 1979.
The fellowing officers and committee were elected:-

CHATRMAT] - M-, Jim O'Meara
VICE~CHATRIAN Mr. Tokn Hodge
HOW. SECRETARY Mrs. M. Croke
HON. TREASUREER : Mrs. R, Lumley
PRE3S OFFICIR S»n. Virginie
EDITOR YDESILS': Mr. Les Cownen.

COMIIITTEE IEMBRRS : Mrz, 5., Brophy, Mr. J. 8. Carroll (ex-officio),
Mr. N, Cassidy, [r. L. Bachthigheirn, Mr. F. Heylin, Miss E. 0'Reilly,

Mrs. E. Webster, Mr. M, Wighom.

LIFE MENBER : Misr K. Yelly

CHANGES TN CONSTITUTION: The meet’ng resolwed, (1) on the appointment
of & honorery Press Officer who shoull be an ex—~officlo member of the
committee, and {ii) +that it is the policy of the Society to issue e
publicetion for which an editor shall be elected and who will be an ex-
officio member of the committee. Theze chenges will be incorporated in
a new issue of the Constitution of the 0ld Woterford Society which will be
available to members shortly.

SUBSCRIPLION: In view of the ~ontinued rapid rise in membership,the
subscription for 1980 will remcin at £2,50.

Pleese forward any subscriptions for 1979 (£2.50)
2till outstanding to Hon. Treasurer:

Mrs. R. Lumley, 28, Daisy Terrace, Waterford,
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THE MARRTAGE OF THOMAS WYSE AND TETITIA BONAPARTE.

By Eileen Holt.

ITATY.

In 1815, after Napoleon's defeat at Waterloo, when the continent was again
‘open to travellers, a young Irishman set out upon the Grand Tour, and

during the winter of 1815/16, he arrived in Rome. He was the future

Sir Thomas Wyse, then known as Thomas Wyse junior. He was twenty-four years
0ld, the eldest of a family of six, and heir to the ancient estate of The
Manor of St. John, Waterford, which had been in the Catholic family of the
Wyses fer generations, Already an accomplished end cultured young man, if

a somewhat puritanical and almost wholly humourless one, he was later to
become associated with Daniel O'Connell in the struggle for Catholic
Emancipation, and to be elected as a Member of Parliement, firstly for County
Tipperary, and later for Waterford City. He beceame Lord of the Treasury,
Secretary of the India Board of Control, and in 1849 was appointed as British
Minister in Greece, which post he held until his death in Athens in 1862,

He was to attain fame primarily as an educationalist, and it is on his career
in the fields ff education and diplomacy thet his biographer, J.J.Auchmuty,
concentrates. 1) Hevertheless, this biography does contain much interest-~
ing and valuable information about Thomas's private life, much of it based
upon material from the Wyse family archives. There is also a fascinating
and -entertaining account of Thomas's marriage and the subsequent life of his
wife gnd her children to he found in The Spuricus Brood by Olge Bonaparte-
Wyse, 2) an account also based on family correspondence and documents.

The story of this marriage, reconstructed from these two sources, from
contemporary accounts in Memoirs, newspapers and correspondence, and from
hitherto unpublished papers in the family archiye ,(3 and im -the archives of
The University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, 4? is seen to be one contéine
ing elements of drama, if not melodrama, of idyllic happiness followed by

deep unhappiness, of geiety and boredom, and of the pathos of exile and parting,

The story begins in that winter of 1815/16, when Thomas, provided with letters
of introduction by Lord and Lady Llandaff, called upon Price Lucien Bonaparte
end his family who had returned the previous year to live in Rome, after spend-
ing four years in exile in England. Tucien, brother of Napoleon, had been
refused the title of a French Price, but in 1814 the papal title of Prince.of
Canino, taken from his estate at Canino, had been bestowed upon him. His
first wife Catherine-Christine Boyer had died in 1800, and of this marriage

two daughters survived, Christine~Charlotte, and Christine - Charlotte—
Alexandrine-Egypta. In 1803 he married sgein, and this marriage was a source
of great anger to his brother who had had a dynastic alliance in view for him.
Napoleon refused to recognise Iucien's second wife, the former Alexandrine
Jouberthon, as his sister-in-law, and brought pressure to bear upon his brother
to divorce her. Tucien,however, steadfastly refused to do so, and in 1815

was living happily with his wife and children in Rome. The children now
numbered eight, the two deughters by his first marriage, and two daughters and
four sons of the second marrizge, The family was not yet complete, other
children would be born later to Alexandrine.

The eldest daughter of the second marriage was Letitia, who had been born in
Milan on 1st December, 1804, the eve of Napoleon's coronation as Emperor.
Tucien had mot been invited to the ceremony, and his mother, Madame Mere,
waited with him in Milan in the hope that an invitation would be issued for
him. It did not however arrive, and iladame lMere refused to go without him,
to the great annoyance of Napoleon. It was after her paternal grandmother
that Letitia was named, and when Thomas first arrived in Rome she was & child
of eleven years cld.
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Many years later, ?omas 3 niece, Winifrede Wyse, wrote down an account of her
Uncle's marriage end told how he became intimate with Lucien and his
family, end partlculurly devoted to Lucien's wife. aAfter a second winter in
Rome, young VW,se started out on a tour of the Hear ZEast which was to last

for two years. On his return, he visited the Lonapartes at their villa near
Viterbo, and Winifrede tells us how during his absence, the daughters had
grown into young women. She goes on to relate how Thomas "dazzled by the
extraordinary beauty, the apparent modesty and gentleness of the third daughter,
Letitia, at once fell deeply in love with her'. The word 'hpparent’is a
significant one, for even bearing in mind Winifrede's adoration of her Uncle,
and her wholehearted dislike of his wife, it has to be admitted that the
picture.which emerges of Letitia is not one of modest and gentle woman.
Winifrede goes on to relate how Thomas, elthough in love,had no thought wof
proposing for Letitia in view of his family's financial situation which was a
difficult one. Price Tucien and his wife were, however, anxious to have him
for a son-in-lsw, and he was therefore persuaded 1o propose, and was accepted.

Thomas and Letitia were warried at Canino on March 4th 1821, The bride was
sixteen years old, the bridegroom in his thirtieth year. In a letter to his
sister Harriet dated 8th March, 1821, Thomas described the ceremony, and spoke
of his great happiness. Of his wife he ooid: "She draws, sings, and plays,
composes in Frencn and Ttaiian; I have already begun Latin and English with

her, and we read Belles Lettres and Hiutory together, She 15 beloved here to
an excess, which even in this family is extraordinary, w? ge everything is
harmony, attachment, and dignified and uuule pursuit." There is no doubt

that for Thomas at least, therc was at first 2 pericd of idyllic happiness,
-even if Letitia, as we shall see, may well have had some reservations from the
very early days.

On 6th January 1822, their first son, Uapoleon nlfred was born. His sponsors
were John Talbot, aﬁterwards,?a:l of Shrewsbury, and Charlotte, his mother's
half~sister. It was at the ome of Charlotte, now Princess Gabrielli, in

Rome, that lfapolecn was bern.  On the return© Viterbo some months later,
discord was first noticed beitween husband end wife. It was commented upon

in femily correspondence, and we cean alzso find a reflection of it in the
fragment of an unpublished novel, written in the hand of Letitia herself, and
obviously autobiographical. This ncvel can be dated from references to it in
family letters, as having been composed in 1823, 15 is written in French and
entitled: Madame Veruspi ra0ﬁ0ﬂ+m sic) l'histoire de son amie la Contesse (sic)
dtAberville.(7) Letitia's first lenzusmge was Italian, but whether she was
writing in Itelian, French or En&llsh9 ohe frequently made mistekes in spelling
and in grammar. The follewing passage is Taken from the beginning of the
story, and we can substitute 'Rome' for 'Florence' and Letitia herself for

'my friend, the Countess of Aberville.!

"When I came to Florence, my friend was barely 19 years old, and had been
married for more than three yeers to 2 man who was as virtuous and good as
he was cold and reserved, He adwmired and love’ her more than any other
woman he had ever met, although he loved her much less than his books and
his other nccupations, and did not adwm’ e her as much as the objects dlart
which decoreted his salons, snd that since the first days of their marriage!

Here we have an indicetion that Let¢,1%‘a own disillusionment with married

life protably started very early on. "She knew his good qualities,"
continues the narrator , "8ho gave credit to his talents, but she did not
love him."  Again, this seems to be an accurate summary of Letitia's own
feelings.

We then have a portrait of the heroine, which is obviously based upon Letitia's
own appearance according to comtemporary paintings end descriptions of her:
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"Her big brown eyes were gentle, sweet and bright. The delicacy and transpar-
ency of her complex.on were enhenced by the dark colour of her eyebrows and
hair..,...Her arms, dazzling white, and remarkably beautiful, were worthy of
her smell hands; her feet were enchanting, and the somewhat pronounced
contours of her body contrasted with the elegant slenderness of her figure,
which without being tall, was perfect.”

This is not a modest one, if we are Lo take it as self-potrait, but 1t must be
remerbered that Letitia waor & r2cognised beauty in her youth,

Thomas too was to begin a novel later on, which was entitled Evererd Aylmer,

r Memoirs of a Papist.(B) Here asszin we find autobiographical details.
The hera fells deeply in love with 2 fifteen year old Italian girl whom he
describes as 'a true Italian beauty.' He goes on :

"Wature had spread out in her ripest luxuriance, but not one line beyond the
grace and dignity of her sex......The eyes were deep and velvety, the lips
loving and perhaps large, the whole countenance s3d and concentrated and
enframed in raven hair.,"

However, in Thomes's novel, a2 girl warries scmecne else, the hero being too
shy to declare him=el?. Writien when e own marrisgs had finally broken up,
it mey be that the euthor preferred his hoero to lose his love early on, then

to have to write about tne peiniul expericiace of the breskdown of a marriage.,

After the return to Viterbo, it is 1mderstandable that Letitia, having
experienced the delights 2nd excitement of life in Roman 3 cciety, should have
rebelled agsinst the dull routine che vas now expected to follow with Thomas,
She was after all still wvery young, and sihe longcd for gaiety. At the same
tine, she was a wifc and mother, and act willing to resume the studies she
had shared with Ler husbard in the early days, which doubtless reminded her

of the schoolroom. Tn any eveat, iu tlz autumn of 1824 matters came to a
head, and after a quarrel with he: hustand, shc ran screaming from the house,
a5 a result of which ske was forccd to enter the Convent of Santa Rosa,Viterbo,

where she was fo romain for the nexs seven non*hs. From the Convent she wrote
pathetic letters to her hucmad, broging him to allow her to see her small son
whom she loved dearly. Ti-craes oSewvever rw cxhiblited the stern, unrelenting,

and unattraciive side of his character we the full, and refused all her
requests. He would no% even allow the child Yo be brought in & carriage and
held up outside the windcw, so that she courd see that the little boy was in
good health. It wem not uptll May 1825, when she hed made an abject apology
to her husband, that she v3s allowed *o 1L9fe the Convent.

In the meantime, Theras had decided 1% was time to return to Ireland, and at
the end of June, accompanied by his wife and child, his sister Harriet who
had been staying with them, ad his servants, he started on the long journey
home, They passed through ke Tyrol and .avaria, epnd arrived at Bruges where
Letitia met her fathzr and wother-in-low, who were resident there,for the
first time.

In fugust the party arr-ived in Waterford. The old Manor House, the family
home, had been demolisned, and Thowmas and nis femily went to live with his
brother George end his iamily In £ hous: on The Adc'phi. Thus in the home
of her brother-in-law did & Bonsparte Pri- cess begin her life in provincial
Ireland. She was not yet twenty one years old, che was beautiful, high-
gpirited, and she was now pregnant with her second child.
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This child, another son, was born in the house on the Adelphi in the following
T'ebruary, and he was named William Thomas Charles Joseph.  Although William
Charles Bonaparte-Wyse, as he was to be known in adult life, always celebrated
his birthday on 20th Pebruary, he was in fac* born on Tuesday 21lst February 1826,
On that day his father was absent in Dublin, and George Wyse sent a letter to

his brother at his hotel there to be delivered immediately. In it he seid:

"it is with infinite pleasure I have to congratulate you on the birth of a
young son, which took place much unexpectedly this morning about eleven o'clock
after scarce an hour's illness - the Doctor not being in time. She is thank Ged
going on well - but much annoyed at your absence. I have not told her of your
further delay - hoping you may still be able to be here as intended. I have

yet time to say once more - Nake Hastelll (9

The next day, on Wednesday 22nd, the following arnnouncement appeared on the
birth in The Waterford Mirror.

"Yesterday, the Lady of Thomas Wyse Jun. of the Manor of 5t. John Hsg. and
daughter of ILucien Donaparte, Prince of Canino, & son."

The child was baptised by the Bishop of Veterford on 6th March, and the
Certificate of Baptism (10) shows the sponsors to be "Thomas Wyse (sen.)" and
"Mad. Mere Bonaparte." However, although Thomas Wyse (sen.) had expressed

his willingness to act as a sponsor, ladame lMere had not in fact given her
consent to act in that capacity to her great-grandson. At the time of Letitia's
marriage, she had according to her daughter-in-lsw Ilizabeth Bonaperte

(nee Patterson) "refused to acinowledge the marriage of Iucien's daughter with
an Irishmen on asccount of the inferiority of his birth." (11

On the 1lst April 1826, nearly s month aefter the beptism hed taken place, a
letter was written on her behalf from Rome, which, while cordial in tone,
advised Thomas that she could not undertake fto be godmother to the new baby.
She gave her advanced age 23 the reason for her refusal (she was then 76),
and added that, she had refused the same request from several other members of
the family. 12)

Ironically, in Ireland, Letitia found herself being treated as an inferior,
because of her Bonaparte connections, by an element of the Protestant aristocracy.
This she resented bitterly, and one incident was reported ss follows:

e had quite a scene last night at Mr. Jeattie's Ball., He took

Ledy Brindley into supper. Ile Donaparte-Wyse who was there,

flew into such & rage, and screamed - 80 28 to be heard by everyone -
thet she ought to have precedence of everyone in the room, as she

was of royal blood and a princess in her own right. Her husband

had great difficulty in getting her to teke his arm, and he conducted
her to his carriage. She is o splendid woman, but she has, 0! such
2 voice ! and such a temper! There are rumours of a separation.“(13>

The Wyse family were closely involved in the Waterford Election of 1826, and
supported the Iiberzl condidate, Henry Villiers Stuart, on a pro-Emancipation
programme.,

In the spring of that yeor Thomos had fteken o house on The Mall, and the family
had moved therc. I deseription of Letitia's activities in the election
campaign has been prescrved.
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"Feshionable ladies filled the windows of The Mall; and not least demonstrative
in exhibition of sympathy was Madome Buonaparte Wyse, who with her own hands
fitted the ribbon favours in the hots of the electors, and was more Irish than
the Irish themselves in her exertions in favour of the good caouse. This ledy,
the deughter of Tucien Buonaparte, FPrice of Conino, wos niece of Napoleon the
Great;.....2he had beconme zn object of decided interest and of great cttraction.
Her size was raother small, her finely moulded feotures hod the impression of

the family of Impericl Fronce; she was not only very young, but very beautiful,
with all the fascinotion cnd address which not only indicated her high lineage
but which gave her o widespreod populfrity......her nmanners ,in nany respects
were more suited to sunny Itely than to the peculiarities of the cline and
people among whom she cast her fortunes; ot times she wore a profusion of
oraD@e ribbons on her shoes, which were so adjusted that in walking, she used

to trample on thern''(14)

Thus did Letitia expresSs her comternpt for those who scorned her, the significanoe
of the orcnge ribbons not being lost on the crowd. With the pcorer classes
she wes a great success, being welconed wornly os the niece of Napoleon.

£t the soeciaol functions she ottended she aroused much corment. On 2nd September
1826, Daniel O'Connell wrote to his wife:

We had on Wednesday night o Catholic Chority Dall. It was the first the
Catholics ever gave in Waterford. wtephen Coppinger wust needs dance in
a quadrille with lMadane Wyse. You never saw anything so ludricous -

his sepulchral aspect end funeral step were most powerfully contrasted
with her elegont Iteliaon deneing, almost too airy indeed for a sober
compeny without being ot ell indelicate, I was greatly amused ot it.
They hod great fun ot supper when they made him ﬂ&%e everal speeches

end gave her health three times in verious shapes. 15?

Life in Waterford was ceriainly not dull that yeor, ond in October Theomas and
Letitia attended the great Poncy Dress Ball ot Dromens, the seat of Henry Villiers
Stuart, who had been successfully returned at the Election. Thomas was attired
a8 o gentleman of Constentinople, and Letitia os "a lovely Italian pecsant.”

The couple 1vl:yed lealing parts in on enterteinment given ot the Ball, a report

of which was given in the local press;

"Shortly after nine o'clock the Company began to assemble, o8 it was requested that
they should come early to witness an cxhibition en tableaux, a novel entertoinment
well known on the Continent, but which has not before been exhibited in this
country. Large pit¢ture fromnes were placed on the stoge, in front of which is

hung 2 thin geuze veil, behind which those who ore to perform stand...The great

ert is to continue in & fixed attitude, ootionless, brezthless, and apparently
lifeless, so as to oppear to the spectoators like a reel picture. This enter-
tainment was perforued in the Theatre ot Dromena by Mr. Stuort, the Hon. Mr.
Seynour, Mr, Wyse and Mrs. Bonaporte Wyse, etc.ete. with which the nunerous aond
fashionoble oudience which filled the boxes were highly delighted."” 16)

Nevertheless Letitia became increasingly unhoppy in Ireland. She detested the
climete, and longed for the sunny skies of Italy. She coumploined thet her
husband neglccted her, that he shut himself cwoy with his books, that he paid
more attention teo his sister-in-low and her daughter VWinifrede than he did to
her, In the winter of 1827, her brother, Prince Charles Doncparte cone to
visit them, ond he found his sister irritable ond discontented. He hed 1little
syupathy with h?r, and told her that she had a husbond such cs very few women
could boest of A17)  Whet he either foiled to recognise, or dismissed os being
of no importaonce, was the foet that there was complete incompestability of
tenperowent in husbond ocnd wife, Letitio did ocknowledge her husbznd's good
qualities, but they did not moke her happy. Furthermore, in the sphere of
gociol cetivity, their tastes sonetimes differcd shorply, cnd this was 2 source
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of friction. For instance, the dancing which Letitic loved, Thomas detested.
Rother surprisingly, we find Thonmos to be the cuthor of 2 light satire on

waltzing, which is unexpected in view of his almost totol lack of humour, An
extroct of this satire, published cnonymously, oppecred in The Woterilord Mirrorgla
In it he commented:

"However I cpprove, or permit rother, such inevitoble cousements as guadrilles,
T cordially obhor, condeun ond renuncicte under all their denominctions, both
woltzes ond woaltzers,”

He went on to present on cnusing cecount of the wiles of young ladies who took
part in whot he considered fo be on itmoral donce, but behind the light hecrted
tone we con sense the cold discpprovel of the puritonical Thomos, We must of
course remenber thot there were mony others who did not cpprove of the waltz

at this period, cnd we should not condemn hir for this reason clone. But this
wes only one source of dispute. The fiery Southern temperament of his wife

wes 111l notched with his cool reserve, oand he simply 4id not try to understand
her tontrums, nor would he noke cny allowances for her. There were faults on
both sides, but it i1s he who emerges as the unsympathetic charocter becouse of
his cold and self centred attitude towords his young wife.

The rumcurs of a separction grew. One doy Letitic arrived ot the Decnery
"ottired in a white morning dress profusely ftrimaned with Valenciennes loce,

ond o leghorn hot with o plune of scarlet feathers; her stockingless feet were
thrust loosely into red morocco slipoers. She wos superbly handsome, but with
o pronouriced expression of bitterness end deficncel (19) She cnnounced that
she wos going to leave VWicterford for good, and thet o Deed of Separation was

to be drown up. The Dean's wife received the news coolly, not wishing to taoke
gides in the dispute between husbond ocnd wifc. She wos intincte with the

Wyse family, cnd well aware thot they would be there long ofter Letitia hed
left. This coolness had the effect of exospercting Letitic 211 the more,

"She worked herself up into & stote of pessjongte screaming', ond had to be
supported downsteirs end into her corricge. 20)

At the end of Jonuary, 1828, while Thom~s ond George were in Dublin, Letitia
finelly left Weterford. Her one bitter regret wos thot she hod to leave behind
her two little boys, but she knew she would never be allowed to have custody

of them cnd to teke then froo Irelaond. There is no doubt that she loved her
eldest son decrly, end even if therce is 1ittle evidence of her affection for
William, there is nevertheless an element of pathos in the perting of the wother
from her young children, clbeit thot she wos leaving of her own accord. She
intended taking the boat at Dublin for Holyhecod, but Thonss ond George had been
warned of her depocriure frow Woterford, end were waiting for her on her crrival
ot the Waterford Hotel in Dublin. There followed o long discussion, but Letitia
wos odemont, and it wes cgreed thot o Deed of Separation should be drown up.
Letitia handed to Thomas o letter she had intended posting to him frowm Holyhead
in which she told him it was as impossible for then to live happily together

"os to unite woter and fire together in the saue vessel.”  She said "our tastes
cnd dispositions cre too nuch opposed - what plecses ue is painful to you, what
displecses me churms youl She epcke of her children, particulcrly the elder:
"I recommend to your love Willicn and Napoleon, the latter (much too sensitive)
hes several traits of ny cheracter, look ofter hin, direct his upbringing, treat
hinm with gentleness, and those some quolities which hove br uggt about my
unhoppiness will bring about his hoppiness ond your pride.”?2 Then she left
for Holyhead ond Iondon,; cnd she never sow her husbond cgain,

About a month cfter her deperture, she did,however, return to Woterford by the
stecuer from Dristol. She hod been cdvised in London to obtain the services
of & legal adviser in Ireland, cnd this wos the purpose of her visit. Thomos
took steps to cwvoid her, moving to his brother's house on the Adelphi during
her visit. A Deed of Separction was signed by both parties in Moy 1828, and
Letitia, having stayed for some fine in Dublin, returned to London,
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The fomilies of George ond Thonos Wyse now united in one household in another
house on The Mcll, ond Goerge's wife ond her nother who resided with them
assuned responsibility for the upbringing of the two sons of Thonos, Williem
was brought from = tenont's cottﬂge where he hod been put out with o nurse, cnd
Napoleon who hod been living os o bocrder ot the school of the Misses Quon,

s renoved end sent to DOWDalde uOli e 1n Englond. Waterford however, had
not seen the last of Letitic. In Decenber 1829 she crrived once more in the
eity, this tiue cccompanied by o Miss Gordon, whon Winifrede described os
"o violent women who wes scid to corry pistols in her belt."  Thomas and
George were cbsent in Dublin, ond Letitic went to the house on The Moll demand-
ing to see Willion. In the cbsence of Thonos, Mrs. George refused pernission
and there was o scene, described aos follows in The Waterford Meoil:

"Medone Wyse orrived in this eity on Thursdcy morning fron Hn%}had accompanied
by o lady to whom the title of Madocne Murat hos been glven. She put at

the Commercicl Hotel, gnd in the course of the doy enacted vorious scenes which
kept the multitude constantly cgog. She went te the school of the Misses Quan

and other places, as it was said, in secrch of her children. She node an
unsuccessful attenpt on the houae of George Wyse Esq. but was refused cdnittance,
end we understond cpplied to the Moyor for assistance to force an entry, one of

her children being in the house. The oid required wos nost respeatfully refused.
After this she returned to the hotel; opened one of the front windows, ond
addressed the pob whether in French or English we hove not lecrned, She concluded
by throwing noney amongst them - sovereigns. Fortunately for hinself, Mr.Wyse

wes not in town to be o spectctor to this exhibition. Yesterdey. the scene was
partielly renewed, ond Modome peraded fthrough different parts of the town with

o leng troin of robble ot her heels, It is scid thot she only seeks to have

her children; but somehow her case excites no syupethy here. These Bonaportes

ere troublesome Folk."(24)

In spite of the tone of this article, there wos in foct some support for Letitie
in Woterford as at least one letter written in reply shows. It began "Unhappy
amily nisfortunes in private 1ife cught mot to be made the subject of public
discussions in public Jjourncls and went on to speck of the "base ond scurrilous
ottack mode in the colwans of The Woterford Wull”Oﬂ hot "certoinly illustrious
but much to be pitied 1lady, Madene Bonopeorte Wysed! 1(25) It should not there-
fore be assumed thot it was onlj in the poorer sections of the comwunity thot
Letitic found support; there wos some syupathy in the nore educcted section of
the populztion clso.

During this visit.to Waterford therec wes also o scene on the bridge when Letitic
in her: carringe stopped the carricge of Mrs, George Wyse who wos accouponied

by her doughter, and hurled abuse ot her. Mrs. George took refuge in The
Deanery, and was pursued there by Letitia who wos refused admittoance.  There
the action turned to nelodrons, with the butler refusing to open the door, and
Mrs. George ond her daughter in o stote of extrene agitation. 26

Williom hod now been sent awey to o school in Coarlow, no doubt to remove the
reason for Letitic's presence in Waterford; and in order to get rid of her and
to avoid further scandal, Thomes hod & letter issued to Letitia giving her per-
mission to see the boy there. She went owaoy cccouponied by Miss Gordon, and
never returned to the city.

THFE APTERMATH.

An nccount of Thomes's life after the seporation is to be found in his biography,
and that of Letitic ond her children in The Spurious Brood. What should be, and
is being exemined in closer detoil, in spite of numerous articles, and one full
length work in French hoving been written on the subject, is the life ond work
of their second son, who beccne o Provencal poet of distinetion, snd o friend
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of Ffenoh, English, ond Spenish nen of letters. Thet however is acnother
story, cnd it belongs to Villicm Chorles.
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Tllustrations on page 4

That of Thomas Wyse is based on illustration in The Spurious Brood facing
P«33, no date or attribution being given. That of Letitis is redrawn

from illustrations facing p.218 in Sir Thomas Wyse 1791-1862. Again,
no atirivution is given , but it is dated 1844 - sixteen years after her
separation from Thomas, Both have been prepared for Decies by

Mrs. Susanne Broohy.

(We hope to pukliQh as a sequel to this a further article by Dr. Holt
dealing with the career of William Charles Bonaparte-Vyse).
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NOTES ON SETTLEMENTS AT HOSSMIRE, C0. WATZERFORD.

By John Mulholland.

Rosamire parish at present is & rather unassuming place with 1ittle about it

to indicate former distinection., However, a single reference and corroborative
nomenclature indicate that here was sn important medievel eccesiestical centre
and long after it had vanished there was at least one attempt to develop an
urban settlement on approximetely the same site, This article intends to
deal in turn with the evidence for these settlements.

THE "MONASTERY" (?) OF ROSSMIRE:

In the parish at present are two churches - a Catholic one adjoining Newto
village built about 18%6 (1) and a Church of Ireland dating from about 1833?2)
standing on the townland of Kilmecthomas. Hoth are modest buildiugs with no
evidence of antiquity about them. Yet 71 1291 this parish hboasted an
ecclesiastical settlement which rivaled Ardmore if the papal taxation of that
year is a fair indicator. Only Lismere, Dungarvyan, Stradbally and Glenvydan
(See Decies 9) were rated substaentially higher. EB? By Cromwell's time all
that lingered of the establishme?t wes the townland "Tisardnemanisteragh"

as recorded in the Civil Survey. 4) This lay to ﬁﬁSIQPfth of the Cork-Wat?rgord
road, the townland of Rossmire lying to the souths = The Down Survey Map, 5
showing only the three townlands to the South-west of the parish, states that
on Kilmacthomas townland there are two mills in repair, a castle in repair

and several cabbins. No church is mentioned. By 1659 (6) the neme
Lisardnemanisteragh had gone, although a wversion of it appears in the Books

of Survey and Distribution () in the joint townleand name of "Newtown and
Lisnamaneskagh."

That there was such a religious establishment is assumed by O‘Donovan(a) and

he implies that t?e Church of Ireland stends on its site, This is taken up

by Canon Power (9) and between them they give suthority to the assumption.

The evidence too seems fairly weighty . Canon Power records, 'the present
Protestant Church stands on the site of the oripginal Rossmire Parish Church

end fragments of the ancient building may be seen incorporated into the present
church," Furthermere, the 1840 0.5.Map shows an ecclesiastical site at the
rear of and outside the present churchyard at Kilmacthomas.

It seems a reasonable hypothésis? therefore, that the Church of Ireland here
represents a continuity of tradition going back at least to 1291. No such
claims have been made for the Catholic Church three miles away at Newtown.

SITE O ROSSMIRE PARTSH CHURCH:

It is my contention that in fact near Hewtown is the site of the old parish
church and indeed of an older tradition. The fact that Lisardnemesnisteragh
was near the %s obviously significant but other evidence must be produced.
Canon Power\ 1O implies that there was no earlier church at Newtown than that
built in 1836. However, he also mentions that there was a pattern Ell) here
which was stopped around 1840 and this obvicusly implies an older tradition,
The Grand Jury Map of 13812 12) shows a chureh here and ncbody disputes that
Donncadh Rua was buried at Hewhown church in 18lo. A "church ruins” is shown
here by Taylor and Skinner(13 in 1778, ilost telling of all, perhaps is a
gravestone in the present churchyard, inscribed around 1770 for one laid to
rest in, "the burial ground of hi.. ancestors.”

To be sure that this church gave its neme in antiquity to the parish we would
need to look for the long-vanished tovmland of Rossmire. such a townland is
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however given in the Civil Survey cnd the Down Survey. By comporing screages,
outlines cnd boundcries of the townlonds given here and the present townlands
it seens to ue indisputzble thot Larkeencgloch, the townland on which stonds
the nodern Hewtown church was indeed portion of ancient Rossmire.

Wihot then of the cloinms of Kilnoccthouas ? One reference gives the clue. In
early times o gront of a foir was given for "Kilnccthomesin clics Kilcowley'(14)
This would indiccte that the townlend hod an older alternctive nane — Cill Chuille
or St, Mochuille's church, nodified Torm of which is stillin use cuong residents
there. This ncy then have been the site of o2 socll church whose ruins atood
there until the building of o Church of ircland. Vhen this was first done
commot be dcted for cerlein, but the earliest grave here is 1766 and Donncedh
Ruo. becoone clerk here the previous yeor, possibly on the completion of the
church. It wes cerioinly here in 1778 L3)but cpparently hod to be rebuilt

in the lote 1820e. C'Donovan's reference to an "ancient building” noy there-
fore only be to an cpporently flinsy 18*%h century structure, or possibly to

the rencins of Kilcowley.

It nust be scid, however, thoet tihc present Hewtown site hos even less left to
dote or place it precisely. The present large groveyord there is on three
distinct levels. Cn the upper level stonds the present church. Below it
are to be fourd the oldest tenbs hich noy indizscte thot here was the site

of an older church, tre equivclent of one 10 eld in fron the rood which seens
true of so uany old churches in ecsty Woterford, The level below it is
conparctively eupt: of grove stones.

It remzins, therefore, to cccount for the discppecronce of the ntnes, not only
of the ecrly church siic itsclf, but of the very townlernd on which it stood.

It seens fthot the villoge ot the cioss roocds becane "HNewtown" which none come
tc be applied in tine to the townlond of Tiscrdnencnisteragh on which it stood.
In due course the adjoining church site doubtless nlso acquired the ncne
Newtown. Soue explenation is therefore neeled for the euergence of this new
none .

NEWTOWN - NEW TOWNS

For the najority of "Wewiowns' there i3 no =vidence fur urben developnent ot
any tine., Perhops the tern is <o owkword cnglicisation of "Baile Hua" applied
where o farn settlement was wode on 4 new location. However, for this
particular Newtown there cre thres lots of cvidence of development.

Best known of these is Chorles Smith's:‘g)”haouu one hundred yeurs cgo (i.e.in
1640's), one Greatrokes formed o design of building « town in a plece in this
parish (1 ¢. Rossrare) which yet retsins the none of Newtown; the streets
were niorked out and poved and severcl houses budilt which cre since gone 1o
ruin®. Tocnl tredition still ceassrts tint tlils was none other thon "The
Strocker", Volentine Greotrolkes who received o gront of the district from

a gruteful Cherles L1 cnd proceeded to erect o town. This would hove been
between his return to Irelond in 1666 ond his decth in 1683.616. However,
Tthis lznd wos then in the possession of Mortin Hoore 17) who cpplied for o
licence for o foir here (approxl, vely) in 1685, It is herd to justify the
involvenent of o nenber of the Greatroker fomily of Affone as & party to such
speculotion % thio stoge. Meptin Tloare did lose his londs in the Jacobite
wor cod they wnny for o while hove cone into the possession of one of the
Grectrokes fomdly -~ but thot would hove becn only fifty yecrs before Smith's
tine.

There is cnother pessibility however. Before 1641, onc Walsh of Little
Island owned nost of Rossoire porish. The Ciwvil aurvey scys of this ”(there)
stendeth the wales (sic) of severall miined havses cnd £ paved streetointended
before the rebellion for a plantac ¢z, This ecleorly was the origin of Newtown,
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the nane coning into officicl usoge insteod of Iisardnemonisteragh. Quite possibtly:
it wos this that Smith referred to elthough why he introduced Greatrakes into

it is not obvious. Cleerly the cttenpted settlement foiled but it is possible
thet Martin Hoare's-cpplication for o fair a helf century later represcnted an
attenpt to restore the seme "plantoccon'. 45 both these men were Catholics,

one -wandders whether they were conscious of ony link with the former
.ecclesiastical inportance of the townlond.

This of course stlll does not explain the disappeerance of the townlond of
Rogsmire which appears to have besn taken into the nodern townlands of
orkeenagloch end Graigue nageeha, A tentative explanation could be thisg
the naie Rossnire haod begun to drop out of co.cion uscge anywoy with the emergence -
of "Hewtown"., Having little descriptive neoning in itself (experts disegree
28 to whot it does nmean) it groduclly ceme to be supplented by nopes nore
evocative of loccl phenomensa, First cane Gralguenageeha by which nane the aree
is lmown in the Grond Jury nop-end then the Little Rocky Field (Parkeenagloch)
energed as a feature commonly referred to. These were in such counon currency
that by 1840 O'Donoven siuply accepted then as the townlond naoes end the nene
Rossmire only lived on as auvplied to the porish,
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ASPECTS OF PASSAGE EAST - Port LI

Py Julian C. Walton

(In port I of this article in Decies 10 UWr. Welton outlined the history of
LCrook Castle, troced the Aylword ownership of the area, described zottenpts
to build here o defence for VWaterford horbour in the late 16th century and
recounted the role of Pos { in the Cromwellien Weor, He now resuuf® the
account ofter the restoraticn of Chorles IT).

PROPOSED MEW FORT FOR PASSAGE:

During the reign of Charles TTsevercl attempts were ucde to bring Possoge he
up to dote, When Ormonde wos cppointed Governor of Duncenmon ond Passage 4n 1663/

appointed Sir Villiom Flower Deputy Govermor of Dunconnon end Governor of
Passoge. Flower was responsible for repoiring ond reoccupying the fort. He
wes succecded in thes following yeor by Sir Williom Boyse.l In March of thot
yeor o Coptoin Webb compiled o 1ist of the repoirs done in all the feorts in
Irelend, eond reported thot "the fort of Passcge cost in building ond repeiring
up port of one of the flonkers the sum uf —=<" (left plonk).?2

In 1666 cxtensive lands around Posscge were gronted to Sir Nicholas Mrmorer,
Governor of Duncommen, for the use of the two forts.?

.In 1684 the Tlock House ot Possope mouated seven pieces of iron ordnonce -
a twelve pounder, o demi-culverin, three sckers and two falcons. The stonding
corricges of the demd--culverin ond one of the folcons were reported as defective,”

In 1685 Lord Dertnouth reported to the Wing thoet Posscge wos one of the few
forts in Ireland thet were still defensible.?  .an extensive survey was mode in
this yeor by Sir Thoncos Phillips,6 who wos commissioned by Chorles 11 to inspect
all the forts on the south coost, report on their condition ond suggest how
they might be enlorged ond strengthened, Phillips hed big plons for Passages
he plonned to construct on enornous fort on the most modern lines on the hill
above the town, to housc o lorge gorrison and coumcnd the passcge of the river,
The measurenents werc oll worked out to the nearest foot, and the expenses o
the necrest shilling. ‘he following was the schedule for the proposed works;

"an estincte of the chorge of fortifying the entronce of the river of Waterford
by tocking in the Hill over Paossoge, ond neking 2 battery below where the
Spanish fort is.

For clecring the foundotion of the moin woll of the rompert and the counter-
nine arch, being in length 2,120 ft., 20 £t, wide ond 20 ft. deep, which nckes
848 gsquaores @ 40/- per sgucre cuounts to £1,696/—/—

For tuilding the noin wall, uhioh ig iwm length 2,120 £t. 18 ft.high
ond 9 ft., thick,contoining 7, 805, perches,@ 12/" po“ perch,cmounts
: " Tto T £4,683/6/-
The charge of the counter-uine crch, being the scne length as the
rapnpert,; ond in every perch running theru is 24 perches, so that
_there is in the wnole 4,704 perches 9 12/~ per perch comes to £2,822/8/-

‘The round toble stone ot the top of the ranpart, being 2,120 ft.
@ 4/- per foot cones to & 424/-/-

There is contained in the walls of the two detoched works, or
bastions, ond the ravelin without, ond the counter-gunrd before
the mein work, being in length 1,810 ft., the charge of cleocring

(B

which foundotions conteining 33,4705 squores @ j/~ugr squrre comes to £521/5/-
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The chorge of building the woll of the soid out worlks or gounter-

gucrd, with the counter-mine arch, cmounts te 6,802 perches, the

woell being in length 1,810 ft., 16 ft. high 2nd 7 f£t. thick; the

crch of the counter-mine being 24 ft. over ond 2 ft. thick,

contains the number of perchos before mentioned, @ 127 per

perch comes to g4§081/4/_

The walls thot face or line the inside of the remports, or the
outside of the groft, being in length 2,500 f£1, 5 ft. thick,
end 12 ft. high, which nakes 3,409 perches, ? 12/~ per perch

cones to £2,045/—/—
For-sinking the graft, being 20 ft. wide, 1,000 ft. in length
ond 14 f£3. deep, uckes 1,120 squores @ 20/~ per squarc cones to ﬁlFIQO/n -
For the two traverse walls thot cover the lower bottery, with the
two redoubts ot each end, amounts to £12,000/~/~
The charge of avenues and sally ports Lo 6T/ /-
The charge of =entry boxes of stone £ 100/~/-

The chorge of barracks to be under the rampicer crched and for

store houses % 5,000/-/-
FPor the battery below with ecarth embraosures T 800/-/-
For palisadoes for the outer counter scarf, being about 120

running perches or rods, with o brecst-worl of stone before it,

@ £8 per perch comes to -, 960,/ ~/ -
For - cosemetes and arches where need shall reguire, for the defence

of the plece, comes to £ 1,000/=/=
For smiths' work, glozing, plumbers, and painting, estinated at £1,560/-/-
Tor draw-bridges £ 200/-/~
For guard-houses & 600/ -/~
For piles to be driven in below to the woter-side £ 500/-/=
IFor carrisges and platforms £1,000/-/-

There is nothing nentioned for the lower platform, they being to

1ic ell upon Skids upon the bottery. There is nothing allowed for

accidents by reason it is put into the price of the pereh work, and

is8 to be done cheaper thon whoat is set down. The sum totel for

completing this design for fortifying Passage by taldng in the hill £41,738/3/-
The chorge of o boow and chodn o be drewn cceross the river ot

Passoge, will conc to £ 2,500/-;—

Numerous illustrotions adorn the poges of Phillip's survey, which is written

in & clear, neat hond. Two of them are of Passage. The first is = plan of the
proposcd fort itself (p&gu 19 ). The second is on enormous prospect of the

river looking downsitreorn at Possoge and Hollyhacle, with Dunccnnon in the distonce.
The villoge of Possoge 1s shown with 1its many-—-chimneyed houses with their attie
windows; wvarious inhebitonts stroll cbout the quoys cnd cdmire the boots,

while ot the south end of the village cnother boot is in process of construction.
Beyond this is the fort - o sguot nachiecoloted round tower from which an
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enormous flog woves triumphontly ond surrounding it cn indented wall with its

battlements cnd squore cobrasures. Behind the town is the frowning ¢liff on

which Phillips propesed to build his grect fortifiection, cnd the smoller hill
beside it o whieh gtanic the old churchy then in ruins. (A modified version

of this cppears on page 21 ),

Unfortunctely for Phillips, the King died before he had completed his
29y & e
eacrmous survey; the new Kirg, Jomes 11, wos nog interested in fortifying
the coonst of Irelond, 2rdi the whole piojescet woe load oside,
3 e J

BEIGHTEENTH CENTURY DECAY:

3ir Jomes Jeffrevs wos cppointed Governor of Duncormncon c—rd Passcge by

Willienm 111, cnd he hes leff €1 cccount book of the repairs he executed during
his tenure of thot office {1690-1698). The following references to Possage
ore included.’

"1691, June 17th. Paid Denis Sulliven for covering the Castle in the ffort at
Possoge with deale Boords ond nending ohe Stelrs ond weking Beds for Soldiers
as by bill oné receipt & c. £2,16,0."

"July 10th. Peid Richcord Hux Tor worke deae by hin ot the 2forts of
Dunconnor. cnd Posscge os LJ T B Bur e T s

"August 6th. Peid Fdward Sprve sor ropoiring the Poo 't ot Passzoge £3.1.0."

"1692, October 5th. Peid Jemn Thum ‘ny, the Iron pote ot Posscge and
for mending the wooden goie os by recsint &c, Bo.6,°

"1C24. Hovenber 23x3. Faid H.

wotericolls cnd mending the
Guord House ot Possage os by B

Despite the core xo'en of tHe
to dismontle some of

tous Cecided soue yeors loter
rd Farbeur, and in 1711 the

,_
=
I
l"h
.__;_

N .
Duke of Ornounde h»ad oll tht ordnoncs cnd ofher rierials rumoved fron Pasange
d3smantled a

Reginnlds Tower w
to the Rov. Alex Elooci, 2
ag hoving hecn asqguirsd Tfor Gho i of the forts; by the terns of his
lecse he veo obliged to spend £500 naei and Passoges TIn 1724 he
protested thot Posscge Port wos “n o grievoul siote owing to wne encrocch-
ments of the sen, and thot sir-e the remnval of the guns 14 was of no momer
of use,

RS

: i . .
olue,™  This gove some consterncotion
il cTas T the lends mentioned cbove

For mnny yeors Passcge Fort wos left to rovlder, but in Mereh 1779 the
Governmt sent Lt. Col. Valloncey (laser Ltguueac) Lo survey itae place.

Vellencey foneied himself os o orchaeclogied, but 1T is &s o sapper thot he
reclly deserves fame. He was ot 1 vilne ged on oo large-scile survey

of the south and west coosts of Irelond. This led heen LnLtLg:ted by the

war with aAmerica which hed left the ccwrtry open 1o invasion from Prance; it
was the sone invesion score fthet gove rise to tve Irish Volunieers. The
following wes his report on Possrge: 0 az bottory of 5 guns formerly existed
at Posscge, the walls still Zemoin. it i8 2 .good situzticn zs the Guns would
rocke every ship or beat. when (i) ; lort; I zm of opinion this
Battery should be roconslructed, ond sh be built ot Paithleg point,

end thet ecch shd be furnished WJ+| 8 oourders, 10 Royals, znd 3 10 inch

mortors,

Vallancey's recommendctions were carricd into eifect; the outer woll of the
fort wos rebuilt cod eguipped with orde 2, & worroacks wos built and e bottery
was constructed of Foithlegg on the side of the Minouwn overlooking the Suir,
where it may still bc seen.
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In 1796 Lt.- “ol. Charles Tarrant wes sent to inspect the fortification, and he
reported as follows:ld: 'pp Passage point which is low and sandy is a round
tower the remalns of an ancient blockheouse, without either floors or roof;
about 15 years ago 9 embrazures were made, platforms laid, some Guns mounted,
and a small Building erected for a Darrack, and a wall to the Land about

12 feet high with holes for musguetiry. The Guns were removed at the end of
the war, the platforms scld; there is no gate at the entrance, and the Barrack
requires to be repaired, here are T embrazures that point towerds King's Bay,
and 2 across the Chamnel but none up the River. Tie Lmbrazures are so Low
that scme of them do not exceed 4 fect above high water mark.

"From the high Rocks above Passage the Tort or Battery is within reach of
Musguetry. This place might be an adaition to the defence of the harbour,
notwithstanding the Rocks commend it as Troops might be there posted in safety
from Ships Cannon Shot; to prevent boats landing near it.

"Phe steep and high land above Passage extending on the Waterford shore,commands
g Ships Deck as the Channel is nesrest to thet shere, and a ships guns cannot
bear on its suumit, where it is not so steep, and inclines more inland, Banks
(or Ditches) enclose the Fields, that extend to cheel point, affording a good
Cover for Troops'.

Despite Tarrant's recowmendations, FPasszage Fort was never occuplied after the

end of the american war. The ruins of the old "Bpenish " tower, the outer

walls with their embrasures, end the "Garrison" crected at the time of the
Volunteers remained unatiended until late in the nineteenth century when 1t

was decided to demolish ail. This was accordingly done and only a small portion
of one flanker now remains of the old defences.

RECORDS OI' TI[E FORT:

For some reason, Smithl? dismisses the Fort with the words: "Where the pier

now stands was formerly a block-house, mounted with several great guns, then
under the coumand of the governour of Duncannon Port.'" This has had an interesting
effect upen his successors, especially the compilers of topographical works:

it hes effectively damped any interest in the fort at &ll, and Swmith's remark

has been passed from pen to npen by men who did not bother to check its accuracy.
Had they done so, they would have found Passsge bursting with antiquarian
interest.

But the Yort has farzd much better at the hands of ‘the draughtsmen of the last
century, In the Nationel Library are two batiﬁ‘ sketches of it by an
anonymous draushtsmen of the early 1800's 13 One is a view of Passage from
the south, showing the round tower, two ELdOS of the curtein wsll with the

two embrasures added in 1779-80 pointing across the river, the thatched roofs
of the houses showing up behind and the masts of the ships, with the church

on the hill in the background. (See modified version, Page 24 b

The second sketch is & close-up view of the tower itself. It was published
as a colourcd print? znd there is a copy of this in the British Library.l4
Another print by the szme artist and publishers, entitled "View on the River

Blackwzter', was published on 1 QOctober 1809, whlch may be soue guide to the
date of the Passage print. 1t shows the machicolations of the tower clearly,
and one can see what the Rev. dlexander Alcock weant when he cowmplained in
1724 thet the fort had been demaged by the encroachmentz of the sea. Behind
the tower, the sky is 1it up by the pink glow of the sun rising over Ballyhack
Castle, while & flahWIF boat is just returning to the harbour after its night's
work, (Sec sketch of this print oo page 23 i
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After Sargent & Jukes

Passage East from the North
Mid 19th Century. -




L =)
-20 -

Du Hoyer has also left a sketch of Passage,m?d@ from the Waterford road in
September 1862.15 It shows the curtain wall and the Gerrison within it
but most of the tower seems to have fallen away into the sea L (see page 24 )

tions in or near Passage. Cne account of The abortive attewmpt by the Irish
forces to recover Passage from the Cromwellians statesl? that when 0 Ferrall

got therc he "began tc repair o demolished fort that was there", In 1685

"a castle, a garden and several houses in Passage' were held in trust for

Richard Mansfield by Martin Hore, 1B Among the lands confisceted under Willijam ITT
and sold at Chichester House in 170% were; "Gaultier - An old house, Cestle,and
some other houses in Passage, rent in 1702 £10-5-0. Value £93-2-6., Tenent,
lMichael Murphy. Description -~ Arn old Castle three stories high with one roon

in each fleoor, wiith two tenements or uast flats on which stand the walls of two
ruined houses,in Passage”19 A1l were bought by the Hollow Blade Sword Codmpany .20
One of the anonymous sketches of ¢.1809 clearly shows a tall sguare tower in

the village. Whether these references are to Passage Fort, the sixteenth-century
Aylward residence or some other building is hard to say.

There are a few contemporary references to whal may heve been other fortifica-

SOURCES :
1. Philip Herbert Hore: History of the Town end County of Wexford -
Duncannon Fort, &c.,p. 228
2, Historicel M35 Commission; Orwond IG5 {(flew ﬁqy}es} ITT, 155
3. Cal,., 3tate Prpers, Ireland, XXTTT172.
4, Wational Library MBS 2557, 3137; Iist. MSS. Coma.; Ormond MSS,T,366
5. Ormond MS3, TL 311
6. There are two copies of Phillips' survey in the Wational Library;
M33 2557 and 31%7. The sctual report has been published in Ormond
s, IL, 314, 322, The British Library also pogsesses copies of the
illustrations (King's Topogravhical Collection,LV,11,12,21 1, &)
7. Hore, op.cit.,pp.239 &t seq.
8., Smith, Antient & Present State of Waterford (1746), P.172
9. Hore, op.cit.,p.246.
10. British Library M3 Additional 337118, f.121. His wnaps of Co. Waterford,
dated 1776-1782, are also in the British Iibrary.
11. B.L. M5 Add. 33118, £f.357-4,
12, Smith, Waterford, p. 102
13. Blmes Catalogue No 1573 (5),(24).
14. B.L. King's Top., IV, 21 (ii). The Blackwater print is IIT,39.
15. R.S.4.T. Collection, ITT, 63.
16. In 1854 Sir Bernard Burke referred to "the fast disappearing ruins of
Passage Fort and Castle" (Visitations of Seats and Arms, 2nd series,I,159-161).
17. Asphorismical Discovery, TT, 59
13, Lattin-llansfield W3S (publishcd in Anselecta Hiberniea?KK532—125).
19, llational Iibrery, Matthew Dutler MSS, XK, 4.
20. Matthew Butler, Barony of Gaultier, p.llZ. See Simms, The VWilliamite
Confiscations in Ircland, 151-155.

Sketches and tracings on page 23 & L4ere by lrs, Susanne Brophy.

(This article will be concluded 1in Decies 12 with an account of the ecclesiagtical
remains in Crook—Passage)u
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If you tind mr case is hard,
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All that other ptoplc do,
Why with patience should mu: ot
Ouly keop shis rule in view,
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Right, sketch of the
village of Bunmahon

Co. Waterford c. 1855

The large building to the
right is the glebe house
completed by Rev. Doudney
around 1854, The artist
of the scene was one

J. Knight. =

Left, title page from TRY printed

in Bunmahon in 1857. An

advertisement for the publication
for the publication declared it to
be "An illustrated gift book for
youth. For the counsel and
encouragement of youth and young
people generally, a little work
prettily illustrated". It is
said that 7,000 copies of the work
were prlnted The authorship of
the book is given as '"0ld Jonathan
and this was the pseudonym used on
occasion by Rev. D.A. Doudney.

-3, Left, view of the village
of Knockmahon, Co.
Waterford c. 1855. The
buildings above and below
the Protestant Church may
have been one or other of
Doudney's schools, the one
below probably being the
printing school. The row
of cabins to the centre do
not survive, and they do not
appear to correspond with
the lie of the land as it is
today.



REV. DAVID ATFRED DOUDNEY AND EDUCATIONAL ESTABLISHMEHTS

AT  BUNMAHON, CO. WATERFORD. 1847-58 Part II1.

by Thomas Power

(Part one of this article was published in Decies 10 and dealt with the early
career of Rev. Doudney, with the state of Bunmshon ¢.1850 and with the founding
of the four scheools - the printing scheol, the infant school, the agricultural
school and the embroidery school).

Controversy.

When Doudney first took up his position as curate of Monkslend in 1847 there
was speculation esmong the locsal Catholic community in Bunmahon that he was a
Protestant evangelical attempting to gain new converts te his faith. The
Waterford Wews of Oct. 17, 1851, having reported on the arrival of the printers
Doudney had recruited in London, asserted that "the general opinion is that they
are a geng of soupers who came over for the purpose of proselytising”.zg How
true in fact was this assertion?

After 1822 there were various attempts by zealots in the Established Church to
initiate a movement of proselytising or ecnversion among the Catholics of
Treland. This developed into a struggle that was waged at various levels of
society, religious, political and sccial. By the late 1840s, it had assumed
the character of a cultural conflict between the two faiths and lifestyles,
Cathelic and Protestant. The high point of the Protestant movement was
reached in the early 1850s, when the Irish Church Missions, a body financed
and supported from England, hed a number of proselytising projects underway in
Ireland. After the mid-185Cs, attempts at missionary conversion activity by
Portestants in Ireland slackened off,

The Irish Protestant clergy and laity as a whole were ageinst the open wmilitent
proselytising activiity carried on by missionaries from England. However, the
two most notable exceptions to this rule among leading Irish churchmen, were
the Archbishop of Tuam, Power le Poer Trench, and Hcbert Daly, Bishop of Cashel,
Emly, Waterford and Lismore. Lfter 1839, with the death of Trenech, Daly
asaumed the leadership of the proselytising element among Irish Protestants.
This position was strengthencd when Daly wes created Dishop of Cashel in 1843,
an office he held until his death in 1872. During his long episcopal reign,
Daly openly supported Protestant missionery activity and vigorously encouraged
the clergy of his four diocesss, Cashel, Baly, Lismore and Waterford, in the
cultural and religious conversion of Catholics.

In the aftermeth of the Famine, Daly addressed the clergy of his four dioceses
in 1849 saying: "The aspect of the time is very peculiar, full of especial
solemn awfulness..... May we not hope that the present judgementsS..... may
soften meny hard hearts and dispose them to receive the Gospel of Christ. e
should surely be ready te take advantage of every soft moment, of every favour-
able impression made upon men's minds ~-- ready to press the saving truth upon
all —--- upon those who profess to belong to our communion, that we way build up
those that are in the faith, and that we mey lead to Christ those wheo, though
they have a name to live, are yet dead before God; -- and ready to offer the
truth to those who are not of our commmunion, if God's_dealings with the world
should cpen any door for the entrance of the truth,

From the tone of this address, we can see that Bishop Daly was a prelate whan we
wolrld expect to find encouraging projects of a missionary nsture in the diocceses,
and by the clergymen under his control, By 1851, when evangelical activity by
English missionaries among Irish Catholics was about to assume a high level of
intensity, Bishop Daly could address the clergy of his dioceses and, with a
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certain degree of Dboldness, claim fthat: "We have reason to be thankful
that the great body of our clergy are socund....whilst among the population of
our country there is a great spirit of enquiry, end many thousands are giving
up the errcrs of Rome and joining ocur Scripturel-Chureh'.

In this matter the clergy must be prepered to assume the duty laid upon them:
"you should be prepored to set before your Roman Catholic neighbours that there
is 'boldness to enter into the holiest' zllowed to every sinmer through the
blood of Jesus"3l  Given the tone and content of both these addresses of 1849
and 1851, it would be reascnable to assume that Bishop Daly supprrted Rev.
Doudney's various educetional establishments et Bunmshon.

‘hen Doudney resolved to open the infant school, he encountered much opposition
Trom the Catholie clergy, who claiwed he would use the school to gain converis.. -
to Protestantism. In an address to the people of Bummahon on Pebruary 16,1852,
Doudney defended hiwself againsgt this chorge of proselytising. He szys he
intends to set up an infant school to relieve the children from their poverty
end misery and to provide them with an elementary education, food and clothing.
In doing so, he says, "I am asking English friends to help me.... I want to see
them taught; ond as your priests have not got up & school for them I will try".
Further, he says no compulsion will be used either for Catholic parents to send
their infants to the school or to force the children to zdopt the Pretestant
religion: *And though T will not ask the children to become protestants, nor
will I ask fthem to attend our Church...... yet this I will tell you plainly,

all thet come to our Infant School will be taught to read, and taught to read
the Bible 100e...' '

hs we have observed elready, the infent schopl opened in August, 1852, During
its first month in operstion Doudney, in & series of progress reports to reeders
of the Gospel Magezine, conveyed news of attacks made on it by the local Cathelic
clergy. Por Mordoy, August 9, Doudney reported thot the "priest denounced our
proceedings from the altar yesterday", and the following dey that the Catholic
Bishop, at a confiruation ceremony in a neighbouring parish, ecrdered the parish
priest to excommunicate those children who went to the infent school. The
following Monday, August 16, the news was that "The alter harangue was in Irish
yesterday" .

Very soon, attenpts by the priests to halt Catholic parents sending their
infents to Doudney's school increascd for on Friday, August 20, Doudney told
readers that "Four priests have been in the wvillege again today and have been
busily engaged in each cabin whence the children came'. 33 Relations betwoen
Doudney and the priests continued to renoin tense during 1852 and 1853. In
June, 185%, Doudney reports thet sixteen children were withdrawn from the
infant schocl by their parents hecouse of threats from the priests that if they
did not do so, they would be excommunicated.>?  Other evidence of conflict at
this time comes from the Waterford Mews which, on September 29, 1854, reported
that at Ballylaneen, four girls from Bunmchon, Mary Fry, Mary Fitzgerald, Hitty
Lane and Catherine Cahill, rencunccd the Yrotestant creed which they had adopted
and returned to Catholicismdb

These incidents show that there was o feeling of entrenchment on both sides,
with Doudney justifying his attenpts to give the youth of the locality, Catholic
and Protestant, a useful cducation along with a biblically based faith, and the
Catholic clergy resisting any attenpts to induce their parishoners to convert
to Protestantism. Az one might expect, conditions for those Catholics attend-
ing Doudney's schools beczine very difficulst, and by 1855, Doudney had resolwved
to provide a sanctuary or hcme for those children who had been turned out or
ostracised from the community because of their attendance at his schools,30
Desgpite this effort at protection, intimidating threots continued. In July
1856, Doudney reported to his readers that three children of one family atiend-
ing the infant school were withdrawn becausc the Catholig priest had refused to
give a relation of theirs absolution unless they did so.”| e are unable to
determine the mccuracy and validity of many of these statenents, but they do,
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Below, a view of Rav.
Doudney's agricultural school,
showing the pupils hoeing; and
preparing the soil under ‘the
surveillance of their instruc-—
tor W.S. Moore. The caption
to the illustration reads:
"Let those that sow in sadness
wait : :
Till the bright harvest come;
They shall confess their.
sheaves are great,

And shout the blessings
home' .

Below, sketch of the Bunmahon
cliffs, The individual to
the centre would appear to be
drawing sea weed for manuring
purposes. The cliffs still

retain their rugged and
dismembered aspect today.




nevertheless; reflect the high passions that could be aroused on both sides.

In 1857, pessions reached a new level of intensity when there were a number af
reported threats on Doudney's life. One of these threats, we are told, srose
out of an incident with the local national tescher, Michsel Kelly. Doudney 4
says that Xelly's brother came to him and sought conversion from the Catholic.
to the Protestant faith,. Doudney agreed to this and the conversion was duly .
consummated, but Kelly, the new convert, Tound it difficult to live at peaece .
in a predominantly cathelic srea. Kelly soupht Doudney's advice and the
result was that he departed Tor London. [leanwhile, Kelly's elder brother the
teacher, addressed letters to Doudney seeking information on his brother's
whereabouts., Doudney quotes Kelly's letter of 9 March, 1857, in which he
stated that "you have zcted illegally in teking eway my brother, a lad under -
17 years, from me his only guardisn..... The very evening that he left...he

Z

stole property from me' .2

The next sequence in the episodeé occurrad when & sister of Kelly's, who was
mentally unbzlanced, committed suicide. TDoudney was blamed for having occasioned
the crime, and he quotes 2 threatening note-which he is reported to have sub-
sequently received stating: "Uister Doaudney have your coffin made and your grave
dug, for our hends we will wash in your blood...." 39 Purther intimideting
threats are said to have been mede. on Doudney later in 1857. Information cn
these threats is based on Doudney's own report.of the incidents to readers of
the Gospel Magazine, so in this sense¢-they are one-sided accounts, and I have
not come across other evidence to substontizte Doudney's claims. At any rate,
the threats are said to have continued. cudney guotes o threatening letter
which he received on July 8, 1857, .stating: 'David A, Doudney you proselytising
Orangeman you have got warning to leaye this country-and take flight to John
Bull it is all in vein blame yourself this is the last notice, have your coffin
bought eand grave made before this dey month". 40 These threets, if true, are
an index of the high passicns aroused among the mejority Catholic community of
Bunmahon by the presence of Doudney and his schools.

Decline of the Schools.

As we have seen, Doudney's object.in setting up the schools was to provide the
children of Dunmehon not only with an elenentary education, as in the infent
schocl, but alsoc to furnish them with useful skills as in the printing,
agricultural and enmbroidery schools. Doudney did not intend the schools to he-
& temporary measure, but he hoped through then "to give permanency to the system
of industry and self-reliance!’, 41

For the first few yoors it scemed as if this aim of self-sufficiency might be
achieved. The printing school, for instance, hod-considerable success in 1ts
early years. When the printing of Gill's BExposition wes undertalken, at least
2,000 subscribers were sccured beforehand. Thig number was sufficient to
ensure that all expenses would be covered, and it even allowed Doudney a surplus
which he used to complete a glebe -house. Lfter the completion of Gill's
Exposition, Doudney sdmits thet the printing school did not pay its way, due to
the cheap rete at which the books were issued, increases in paper prices and

S
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rising lsbour costs Doudney realised. that the only way to boost the prospects
of the printing schoal was to increase ssles. Thus on nmauierous occasions we

find Doudney appealing for people ta purchase the books, tracts and pemphlets
printed &t Bunmahon. In the Gospel Magazine for December, 1856 (p.620),
Doudney made an appesl for subscriptions to the Magazine to be paid promptly
and he exhortfed readers to try to extend the circuletion of the pericdical. = is
is evident from TABILE 1 (Decies 10, p-ll1 & 12) a lerge number of works wexe
printed right up te 1857-1858, though the guantity was considerably less zfter
1855 than before it.

In 1856, there was a controversy in- the press over -whether numbers in Doudney's
Bunmahon schools were on the decline.or not.  Forinstence, the Catholic
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Telegreph of August 9, 1856, carried a report heeded !'Deczy of Proselytism in
Burmmehon' in which it was cloimed thot attendonce figures for the infant school
had fallen from 109 to 10 in o year, thet numbers in the cmbroidery school had
in six months fallen fron 46 to 1%, znd that the printing school only reteined
e part-tine staff, 42 Doudney defended his schools agoinst the accusation of
declining runbers of pupils, In his support, Doudney quotcs a report from tke
Clare Journcl, the substonce of which elaims thot the avercge attendance at the
infant school was never as high cs 109, and that far from being in derdse, the
printing and enbroidery schools are successful, Doudney alsc mentions a repart
from the London Morning sdvertiser in which it is stoted thot attendance for
the printing school waz 30, for the embroidery school 29, znd for the infant
school 19, giving a totel of 78, 43 We connct decide for sure what the
actual numbers in attendonce were, cnd the comtroversy in the press over school
numbers may have been 4 reflection of the proselytising debote then intensifying
in Dunriohon.

Doudney remained undaunted by criticism and drawbocks, In the October 1857 -
issue of the Gospel Magazine (p.BlD}, he nentions thot o Choritable doneation of
£150 hed been unde to him, cnd this he hos used fo erect = new building suitalle
for printing purposes cdjacent to the glebe house he had already completed.

He scys thot the printing of the Uospel Magozine ond 01d Jonethen is not enough
to keep the staff of the printing works busy, so he plans to print Thomas
Goedwin's entire works in 6 volumes, onc volume every four months. He urges
every recder of the Magazine to zccceut 2 copy of the new work rnd to Torward
their subscriptions immedicately. There is no evidence thot Goodwin's warks
were ever printed in Dunmohon.

The reason for the continuing lack of viacbility on the port of Doudney's schools
may lie in the foect thot funds were not coming o8 regulorly from recders in
Ingland os they hod been. Certoinly ofter about 113d-1857, sums of money for
the support of the Dunmzheon schools ore no longer ccknowledged in the Gospel
Mogazine.,

Departure frowm Dunnchon.

Sone time corly in 1858---we crc not sure of the excet date, but at least before
Morch —--- Rev, Deudney cbruptly resigned his curcey in Monkslcond ond decided to
depart for o new life in England. Personcl foeters noy have influenced this
decision. There is no doubt thot sinee his arrival in Dunmohon Doudney had
been under constont stress both in his ¢fforts to run his schools with recsoneble
proficiency and becouse of his controversy with the pricsts. This stress was
opgrovoeted by reported threots-on his life, Dy 1858, the demonds on Doudney's
composure were great for, in March of that year, he could write: "I have borne
the weight os long as it wos possible to bear 1t. To hove groppled with it

any longer would have made irrepcroble inrcads upon ny heslth" ,44

fnother foctor influencing departure was thot Doudney moay hove been in diff-
iculties with Bishop Daly. The Woterford Mail reports Doudney cs cloiming

that he was refused (presuncbly by Doly) the leave of cbsence from his perish
duties to orgenise his financial collection system in England and to gain o

wider interest in his work. 49 TPunds from Englend were essential if Doudney's
schools were to succeed, but frow nid-1857, these funds were not being forworded
as plentifully cs formerly. Doudney nay hove theught 1t prudent to poy o
personcl visit to his various collection cgencies in Englend, and this may hove
cougsed some roncour with his bishop. However, the suggestion of the Waterford
Meil 46 thot Doudney's finol departure fron Dunmohon wes due te o lack of sympathy
for his odims on the part of Bishop Daly, cocnnot be entertained for, =s we hove
noted, Daly wos the most stounch proponent for the advonce of Protestantism in
Irelond cnd, on this bosis, wpuld not hove hindered Doudney's efforts ot Burmahon.

There is clso the suggestion thot Doudney's deporture may have been occasioned
by propesals over parish reorgonisation. Twice, Doudney says,proposcls, for an -
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cdjustuent of the Estoblished Church porishes in the orea had been forworded,
ond hod these been sonctioned, Doudney would hove remcined in Bunmehon. In

o letter to his porishoners deted Morch 20, 1858, Doudney says that his
decision to leave "may be scid to hove origincted some three or four years ago
when the proposed crrongenent of the poarishes were negctived...... Had the
proposed arrcngeuent been ccrried out it would wost probobly hove fixed me with
you for the residue of my days".” 4T There is no cher evidence of pzrish re-
orgonisation at this tine ond curates continued to be oppointed to Monksland

up to 1867® when, for o short period, the porish wos mode independent, but
only until 1275 when i1t wos united to Stredbolly porish.

30 with the mojority Cathelic populction deeply hostile fowords hin becouse of
hig clleged attenpts to use his schools to goin converts to his faith, with
funds for the schools thenselves not being as freely aveilable as before, with
o lazck of support from most of his fellow-clergymen in the Woterford-Lismore
dioceses, and with the likelihood that it wes ¢ extrenely gruelling for
on Englishmon $0 survive in an environoent so renote os thot of Dunmahon,
departure seemed the most hopeful option for Rev. Doudney.

Before he left, Doudney hod o number of matters to attend to. On May 13,1858,
there was o szle ot the parsonnge in Durnehon of varipus household furniture

ond LLfCCt”.49 The types and presses used in the printing works were shipped
to London to the firm of llessrs. Collingridge of Long Lene.50 The welfore

of the pupils who attended the schools had also to be looked after. Doudney's
wish was to obtein passcge to Austrolic, Coneda and Amerieca for some of the
elder boys cnd girls, oand he recounts that six girls and one young mon from the
printing school hod left for New Yorlk ot & cost of ;)O.

Doudney's eanrts to provide o useful educction in various skills for the yourg
people of Bunmohon could not succeed pernonently due to the suspicion thot
reigned over his uflvww cnd becouse in on arec where most of the population
wos Cathelie, on English evangelicol clergynan like Doudney could not hope to
cchieve his oins Wlth long-losting success, The result wos that Doudney's
schools, in the short span of their existence, while they ucy hove served the
needs of his own porisheners, did not appecl 2t o populer level to the Catholics
of the district, By all 2ccounts, it wos the Hotioncl School systen which, by
Morch 1853, hod four schools under its cuspices in the Bunnchon-Knockmchon area,
thot hod nost oppeal,
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L tar Coretr;,

Doudney deported frou his curacy in lonkslond in 185&. In 1859, he took up
o new position cs curcte of 81, Iuke's, Bedminster, Dristel. In Bristel he
get up educotionol schenes siwilor to these bhe had run in Punmchon. fle lnow
thot he started o printing works in DBristol, frowm which a number of fracts ond
devotionﬁl works were issued. Doudney also coatinuced his editorship of the
el Mopazine, ond in 1866, to celebrote the centencry of the foundotion of
tﬂe dwpuZtha Doudney wos prescented with o woteh ond £400 ot o function in
Tondon. 22

Doudney's 1liks with Trelond were not severed innedictely upon his deporture
fron Bunnszhon. In July, 1861, ot the opening of the new Protestont Hell in
Vatcrford, several letters were read, ineluding one from Doudney enclosing o
cheque for £25 which, with the £75 ulltqdy given would ucke up the £100 he had
promised to donate for the new hﬂll 53 In August, 1864, Doudney Vlul+ed
Tromore cnd in the church there delivered sertions morning ond evening, -

Also ene of Doudney's sons -—- who, like himself, haod the initicls D.AD, -—-
wes still studying in Irelond. The twenty-yecr old son entered Trinity College
on Novenber 6, 1857, received his Ll.i. in 1861, ond his U.A, in 1864, 1In 1865,
he toock up on cppointment in the church in ””lllslg 55

The elder Doudney continued in his curccy ot Dedminster until 1890, when he
resigned, In 1890 clso, he received = gift of £1,000 in commemorztion of his
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GOD AND TRUTIIL

Jn Sour Pacls,

WITU A
VINDICATION OF TART V.

FROM TIE CAVILY, CALUMNIES, ANIJ' DEYAMATIONE, OF MIL HENRY JNEYWOUDL.

BY JOHN GILL, D.D.
A NEW, EDITION.

CO. WATERFORD .

PRINTED AT THE BONMANON INDUSTRIAYL, PRINTING SCIOOL,
(Estatiiahed Oct. 108, by 1), A. Dovduey, Curate of the Marish )

AND PURLIBILED Ny

W. 1. COLLINGRIDGE, 1, LONtG ¢ ANE, LONDON,

1 Sah,

Above, title page of J. Gill, The Cause
of God and Truth, printed in Bonmahon
in . ) copies of the work are
said to have been produced. On the
issuing of another publication the
Waterford Mail commented: ''To have

so elaborate a work issued from an

Infant,PrintinE Establishment in the
wild mining village of Bonmahon, 1S

what may be truly termed an astounding

Below, delightful
sketch of the early
19th century Protestant
Church in Knockmahon,
of which Rev. Doudney
was curate from 1847 to
1858, It is regretful

to note that such a £
fine structure has been
out of use for many
years. '

Below, view of the
interior of Rev.
Doudney's printing
school, showing some
of the pupils engaged
in. composing type.

The scene conveys an
impression of activity
and industriousness.
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fifty year% s editor of the Gospel
noved to outhsew} waere he died on
eighty-two yeors,-

Sources:

(The following abbrevictions have b
Protvestont Beccon; NI
Outing of the Rise ond lrogr

Agriculturcl Scihcols by D.

Waterford Moil)

Ty
ne

]

eos

of

His life inl

= [Nationa

& Doudney,

Mogogine, To spend his retirenent, Doudney
April 21, 1893, ot the hondsome old age of
deed hod been long, colourful ond eventful,

cern. used:- G.M.= Gospel Mcgazine and
LIibrary of Irelend; P,0.,= A Pictoricl
the Twnmahon Industrial, Infont ond

published Bunmchon 1855; W.M.= The

29, Woterford Hews 7,11.1902 guoting saze of 17.10.,1851:
W.L.I. Ms, 9497 No. 22 p.l1l6.

30 A Chorge delivered by the Rt., liev, the Lord Tishop of Coshel ot the
visitotion of the Dioceses of Woterford ond Lismore, Cashel and Enly
(1843) p.4, 13.

31 A Chorge delivered by the 3%, Hev. the Tord Dishop of Coshel at visitation
held in the dioceses of Woterford ond Lismore, Coshel and Enly (1851)p.7,12-13

%2s P.0a. p-20. Por o further cddress similor in ione and content see G.J0i.1852
(May) 245, Dible-recding by the people thenselves wos an important issue
of controversy between th“ollw cnG Protestont clergymen. In 1853-4,
Doudrney initicted a furl for o Tible Depository ot Bunmchon, for this
see: P.0. p.2l, cm_o B54 (Jb_,} p. 48, G.M. 1855 {Wov.) P.538.

33, G. M. 1852 (Seot.) p. 4457 34. G.M. 1853 (July) p.326.

35. Woterford Hews 29.2.1854: H.L.I. !M8.9495 Ho. 9 Pu%s;5 36. P.0. p.24
37. G.I, 1856 (July) p.380; 38. G.M. 1857 (June) p,335. In 1851,Kelly hod
il been oworded o preniun of £1 for order in his class: P.P. 18th Report of

Conmissioners of Hotional BEducotion (IT . ) XLl1l {(1B52-3) p. 362,

59. * 1bid.,p.337; 40. G.M. 1857 (Aug, s40%3; 41, P.0. p.23;

42, Cotholic Telegioph 9.8.1856: W.L.T. w“hﬂ497 No.22 Pel19.

4%, G.M. 18)_ Sept.) p-486-8; 44. G.I, 858 (May) p.232.

45, W.,M. 6.1858: F.L.I. Iis ?’q7 “No,22 p,iﬂ. 46, Cited in THE IRISH
D00 KLOIun 32 To,4 (1995) p.82, 47. G.M. 1858 (May) p.232.

48, P. Leo woe Doviney's =successor 1Q_Luﬂhu1 md:  Thon's Directory 1859 p.687.

49. W.M. 13,5.162%8: W.Li.I, Ms.8497 ¥No,.22 p.l18. 50. 1ibid.,b5.6.1858 : ibid.

51, G.M, 1858 {Moy) p.240, G.M.1858 (}ct ) 2.534. 52, W.M. 24.8,1866 :
N.L.I. IIs.9497 Ilo. 22 p.l7. 25 Willa 5,7.1861 ::ibid,

54, 1ibid.,15.8.1864 : ibid. 55. H.L.I. Ms. 9497 No. 22 p.l7.

56. Dictioncry of Nationcl ’io”*aphg vol. 22 Supplement (1909)

Pe 572-3. Doudney mointoined his interesd in writing pastoral and
religious worke right up to the time of his denth. For his works
post-1860, see under 'D.A.Doudney! in J.F. Kirk A supplenment to
Allibone ‘% criticel dictionary of _of English literature

NOTE ON ITLUSTRATIONS: The +title p
permission of the Librarisn, Trinit;

";9:?
Tanieipal Librax

The other illustrations (Wos.,
a copy in Waterford I

vol L (1895).

eges (Wos. 1, 4, 7) are reproduced by kind
v ~LlLege7 bukllﬂ.

26,8,9) are from A Pictorial Outline,from

b *\\r
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LAND OVNERSHIP TII EAST WATERFORD 1640-1703.

by J. 3. Carroll.

THE CROMWELLIAN PLAITATION:

From those parts of the Civil Survey (1654-56) which have survived and from

the Books of Survey and Distribution, drawn up under the Acts of Settlement

(1662) and Explanation {1665) it is possible in most areas to establish the

nemes and properties of those affected by the Cromwellian plantation. This

is true of the County of Waterford and of the Liberties of the city but only
partly true of the city itself. '

In 1654 General I'leefwood, the Lord Deputy, issued commissions to various

groups to carry out the Civil Survey and, for that purpose, to hold Courts

of Enguiry in the several baromies of the County for which they were appointed.
These for Co., Waterford were John Cliffe, HRobert Fawcett and George Cawdron.
FPawcett and Cawdron were already in possession of forfeited land in the Liberties
as were some other Parliamentarians. Cawdron became the first Mayor of Waterford
in the Puritan Corporation appointed in 1656 following six years of military
government.

The Commonwealth reserved for themselves all the towns, all Church lands,

with their tithes, as well as the entire Counties of Dublin, Cork, Carlow

and Kildare. Forfeited lands derived from the estates of those who were
tanished from the country, those driven out of the towns and those trasplanted
to Cormacht.,

It is difficult to establish the number of heads of families who were trans-
planted. Matthew Butler? gives the number for Co. Waterford as 79 represent-
ing (with retainers, etc.) 1748 persons. Simington? suggests & higher figure
and this seems likely when one considers the list of names of those from Co.
Waterford subsequently put before Ormonde as being worthy of consideration for
possible restoration. These numbered 49. Very few were selected.

The fate of the transplanted landowners and their retainers was a hard one but
the merchants and property owners in the towns fared worst of all and nowhere
worse than in Waterford. It was decreed that all Catholics, whether of Irish
or English birth, must leave the town and not return within two miles of it.
For the merchants of Waterford, land in Connacht would have been of little
interest, even if they had been offered it, They tock themselves and their
families abroad, making use, no doubt, of fthe commercial links and friendships
established over the years.

The spoils had to be divided between those who fell into five distinct categaries.
First, there werc the adventurers who, to the number of 1360, had subscribed
between them nearly £300,000 to win Irish land at give away rates, The ging

rate per acre varied with the County, ranging between 25 and 110 pence. Here
in Co. Waterford the rete was, 50 pence,except for the barony of Middlethird
which went for only 35 pence.4.

The next group was the Parlismentarian army in Ireland, plus the garrisons of
Dublin end Derry, all of whosc pay was in arrear, Thirdly, there were the
Parliementary troops still in England who were also offered Irish land in lieu
of pay. These were given land in Co. Mayo which had to be taken from the
transplanted Irish to make room for them. Fourthly, there were those troops
who had fought in Ireland under Ccl. Jones and Col. Monk before Cromwell
arrived. These got lands in Cork, Louth and Fermanagh. Finally, there was
the special case of the Cork Garriscns under Inchiquin who had changed sides
and changed back again. These were first disbarred but eventuzally had their
claims allowed.
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Some Counties were reserved for adventurers only, some for soldiers only and
some for both. Waterford was one of the mixed Counties. The baronies of
Decies, Coshmore and Coshbridge and the Iiberties of Waterford (except for
Kileulliheen) went to adventurers. Upperthird, Glenahiry, Middlethird,
Gaultier and Kilculliheen went to soldiers®. Vithin the compass of this
article it is possible to treat only of Gaultier, the Liberties and fthe City.

THE TATE OF WATERFORD CITY:

In the accompanying table (pages 41-) for the Liberties some small parcels

of lend not identifiable by name hzve been omitted. For the ecity the prepara-
tien of such a2 table was not practicable but the following particulars should
give a fair indication of what hapoened.

A valuation survey of C.166% or 16645 shows, not only the names of all
proprieters at that time, but alsc {those for 1641 This document gives the
names of 335 proprietors and houses they oocupled in %9 streets. Opposite
the proprietors' nemez for 1653%/4 are shown those who possessed the same houses
in 1641. A gquick compirison is sufficient to show the wholesale change that

had taken place in ownershin, 0f the 3%% later proprietors cnly 24 bear the
family neme of a former inhabitant,. Tihe¢ new names are toially strange to

Ireland - Axtell, Barlett, DJorzy, Buckridge, Dancer, Dapwell, Goatley, Heaven,
Hubblethorne, Maclkerel, Outing, %1rclkr7 Solvent and Treniman.

These were the victorious troops of Col Prettic's regiment of horse. Thirty
men were picked from each of the trcops under the command of Major Brereton,
Major Richerdson, Copt. Aaland, Caopt, Rolton, Capt. Ticholls end Czpt.Thomas,
They were disbanded in August 165 ( first of three disbandments), and
became private citizens. 7

HOPES AT THE RESTORATION:
The old families had been dispersed and wmony hed gone to the continental sea-

ports. Their hopes were raised by the declaration of Charles 11 at the time
ot the Restoration, sc in llovember, 1660. they petitioned OQrmonde to be allowed
to return. The signatorics to this petition and to n seccond one in 1664

i

included Matthew Porter, Uicholas Gersldine, Jrgper Grant, Nicheolas ILee,
Jemes Lincoln, tkew Bverecrd, snd Inke Hoore. They wrote from St. Malo,
describing theuselves as "banished merchants of Waterford now residing beyond
the -seas®, Andrew Carew w at Ostend, Valentine ilorgan at San Sebastian,
Prancis .'hite in Calais, Andrew Geraldine in Naentes, William Lue in Rochelle
and Walter Power iﬂ.ﬂ“LL‘OuU These patitions fell on deaf ears. ,

H
(
ot
H
4]
&
[
B

Although well orgenised, the rt seheme wos bound to proceed slowly
because of its very ungaitude, 1t the tim= of the Nestorztion there were
21,615 soldiers who had exchonged their debentures for assigmments but had

not yet got land.- Prom the outset it wos clesr that Charles, despite his
decleration, would deo litile te interferc with the course plamned by the
Commonweal th. Howevery, a Tew of tho ?H’uge which he made affected Vatrford .
He restored Ormonde and o few of the nebility to their estates. He bestowed
gifts of further Irish land on certoin nominecs who had no clzim whetever,
These ineluded his brother Jomes, then Dulte of Yorlk. James got lends in
Dublin, ¥ilkenny, ath, Vestmeath end Wexford, but he did not distain to
accept also & meore 25 zeres in Loqpr T along with some houses in High St.,
Barronstrand Street and the Quay.™ of cqu[uu? he promptly lost them 21l
under the Williand tee.

Tor Waterford County and the Libertics the Restoration settlement, as represented
in the Books of Survey and Distribution, 1s substantially the scome as the
Cromwellian, but not so for the city. The sward of lands to the Inchiquin
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men-was cancelled but, on the other hend, provision-was mede for the Hoyalist
0fficers who hed served under Ormonde before Cromwell's arrivel. At the
Commission appointed to administer the Lcts of Settlement and Explanstion
claims were made on behelf of these ex~officers by Sir Motthew Apleyard and

.others, The claims were for various houses in Waterford city, znd £ll were
allowed,l This wos in 1667 - 1% years cfter the Cromwellians hed moved

in, sc the proprietors listed in the 1663/4 valuation survey camnot heve in-
‘cluded any of the Hoyslists, How, then, werce there enough vacent houses,
for them and, if they did tske up their obode here, how did Hoyolist and
Cromwellison get on a5 neighbours ? It is interesting to speculate.

‘Outside the city, gronts of huge csteotes were confirmed to certain individuels.
By 1667 these men had probably addsd substantizolly to their original grants
by the purchase of debentures. At ony rete, the lead for Vaterford went to
Bir Jehn Cole who acguired 9279 stotute acres, next was Sir iAlgernon May with
8,726, then Henry Hicholls with 8,091.12

When oll undisputed claias hod been setiled and when restorstion had been

made of Church londs and their tithes, therc remained a residue of forfeited
lends in the hands of those whose title to then was defective or doubtful.

To remedy this, CharlesTI set up the Commission of Groce (1684) under which
new titles were granted by the Crown. Three of these sre of Weterford interest,
viz, Thomaos Vise was confirmed in title to "the site and precinct of the M
monastery of 3t. John's" as well as to Tisduggon, Slievekeale, Browleymore,
{/ise's Wewtown and other lends in the Liberties end in the barony of Gaultier.
Janes Devercaux's title to londs in fiddlethird (Pickardstown, Bellydrislene
rand Garriglong) wes algo confirmed as was thot of Thomas Maunsell to a slated
‘house in Conduit Lane.ld

James TT . on his cccession, directed thet any unfinished work of the Camission
be coupleted.

THE VILLIAMITE SETTLEMENT:

The last move wag made by William ILL Certein prominent Jacobites were
otteinted cnd thelr londs declarcd forfeit to the Crown, under an Act of 1700,
They were sold by public auetion cnd the nomes of purchasers, as well as those
of former ovwners, &re recorded in the Boolks of Postings and Sales, 1703,

The following transactions took place in Eest Vaterford:

=
i

King Jomes'! land =t Lower Gronge, with "a good stonewall slated house
rof two floors om it," wss bought by John Lopp, the sitting tenant. Also
in the Liberties, Arthur Gallway's property in Lbbey Lane (Trinity parish),
mortgaged to Meinerd Christiacn, went to John Longrish of Knocktopher, who
also boughtthe "White Hart" in Patrick Street, which hed been fthe leashold
of Theodore Jornes. IHicholas Porter's house 'neer the Key" was bought by
John Lapp, the tenant. "in old house, eccstle, ond sowe other houses" =t
Passage, tenanted by Michoel Murphy, were purchased by 5ir Thomos Brendergast

14

And so the story closes of the great land robbhery, contemplated by Cheorles I?
given effect to by Cromwell, condoned by Chorles IT and his brother James,
added te by Williem TTT and not finslised until the second year of Queen Amme .

Tote on Tables and Sources

Table 1, is en attempt to condense the information given in the Civil Survey

for ownership in 1640 and 1654 of each townland (or other denomination) in

Gaulticr. The adjoining column giving ownership in the Restorat%fq period is
o (continued p. 24)
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token from the Books of Survey ond blSTrlthluﬂ, The "Remarks" come largely
from the Books of Postings and Sales. o ' bl e
Table 2 for the Liberties is arronged slightly differently, ownership in 1640 |
being omitted. This is because Woterford Corporotion owned most of the area,
Only the porishes of 0t. John's "Without, Kilberry end 8t. Catherine's Abbey

then being privately owned. Towlends in these parishes were owned by the
following scven people: Thomes #:dding (Slievekeccle, Drowleymore and Kilbarry),
Froncis Wise (John Lee's Perk and Wisc's Hewtown), Nicholas Wise (Priorsimak ),
8ir Peter Aylward (Ballytruckle) Thomas Porter (Lower Grange), John ¥elsh,
Merchant (Upper Grange) and Patrick Gough (Gough's Hewtown).  4As the Civil
Survey elso gives the names of lecseholders in the Liberties in 1654, T have
iisted these hbre. Ch%ﬂmes oau%gd by the findings af the Ccumission of Groce
(1703) eppear in the "Renarks",

The following sources were used, o9 cnunberated in the text:
bl

1., Prendergost : The Cromwellian settlement of Ireland. ‘

2. DButler: History of the Barony of Gaultier. p.85. \

3. Simmington: The Civil Survey,1654, Vol.V1 Intro. p X(iii !

4., Prendergast: op. cit, . Simington: op.cit. p xiii.

6. Simington: gp.cit. p p x1i & 215-285.

7. Prendergasti op. cit. 8. ibid; 9. ibid,

10. Fifteenth Report of Public Hecords Commission,1825; Grants under icts of

settlement ond Explanation.
11, Ibid; 124 AbEAE- = o0 e vr e m e o D -
13, Hatehell: Grants under the Commissicn DI Grace 1684-18. (Dublin,1839).
Transcript by Pender,
14. Book of Postings and Sales, 17

—3
[
p]
B
T~
o
)
M
)
.}
=t
=
]
rl—

onal lerhrv/.

OSBORIE THE STUCCADORE

In response to Dr. Pettit's request for information on & Stuccadore named
William Osborne (Decies 8), lir. Ian lumley writes:-

While the name of Williem Osborne is unfamiliar to me,
that of a Patrick Osborne, traditicnally but without known [
proof held fo be a aterfordmen, is on record. From
Castletown Cox, Ca. Kilkenny, built 1767 onwards by Davis Ducart
(the same Architect as the Cork Mayoralty House), & set of
accoumts of 1774 show the fire plasterwork to be the worlk of
Potrick Oshorne... .This is interesting in connecting the Oshorne
neme with that of Ducart for the second time, suggesting thet
research into the stucoo  of Ducert's other works would be worth-
while.,:

C. P. Curran in 'Dublin Decorstive Plosterwork!' (1967)
attrlbutesﬁthu work in the bnumbc; of Commerce, Yaterford,
house of 1790's, to Patrick (not Willism) Osborne but gives no
source., In addition he places Potrick in his list of Dublin
plasterers showing he must at least have treined there,

the worlc at the lfayorelty House, Cork is
Rococo. Thot ot Castletown Cox more disciplined, while. the
Weterford work is largely sdamenque showing the influence of the
Dublin plasterer Michael S staplaton. Unfortunately, ruoOrd of
Irish provincial plesterwork are so obscure and fr_gmuntary that
researeh iwbo-the Osberne-femilty-is -Likely to be ¢ifficult,; — —
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THE ATHERTOU FILEO.

by Aidan Clarke.

Por fifteen years or so, I have kept a file labelled 'John Atherton!
in which I have gathered odds and ends of information connected with an
unsolved, and seemingly insoluable, seventeenth century mystery. This is
no more than an attempt to put the contents of that folder inte coherent order,
50 that one mey take stock of what is lmown and what remains to be discovered.

John Atherton was the son of a Somerset clergyman, born in 1598, educated
at Gloucester Hall and Lincoln College, where he took his M.A. in 1621 (B.A.1617),
and ordained in the Church of England. He established scme reputation as =
canon lawyer at Oxford, which makes it a little odd that when he went down it
was to a rural rectory in his native county (Huish Champflower51622). Odder
gtill is the fact that, on 22 April 1630, he was insitalled as prebendary of
St. John the Evangelist in Dublin, though he had neither relinguished his
English benefice nor received permission to hold the two jointly. There is
no doubt that it was in Dublin that he served, and it was there that his legal
skills were quickly recognized by the incoming lord deputy, Thomas Ventworth.
Wentworth arrived in Ireland in the summer of 1633; in the following April,
the accelerated advancement of Atherton commenced with his installation as
Chancellor (i.e. law officer) of Killaloe diocese: in rapid succession, he
became absentee rector of two parishes in (Jueens County (killaban and
Ballintubride/Fortstown), chaplain to the lord chancellor of Ireland, an
honorary Doctor of Divinity of Dublin University, Chancellor of Christ Church,
Dublin {December, 1635), a member of the influential and prestigious Commission
for Ecclesiastical Causes (February,16%6), and, finally, on 28 May 1636, Bishop
of Waterford and Lismore. It was not an unusual career pattern for an able
Englishman, lay or cleric, in the service of the English administration in
Ireland. But its ending was unique. On 5 December 1640, he was hanged in
Dublin, On the same day, at his own request, his remains were interred in a
rubbish dump in & corner of St. Johm's churchyard in Fishamble Street. On
the same day, Dublin University formally expunged his name from its roll of
honorary gradustes. That he died as a bishop was entirely fortuitous. The
death of the acting lord deputy on December 3 had made it imposSsible te proceed
with the ceremony of deconsecration which had been arranged for December 4,

Exact information is hard to come by, but there is no mystery about the
capital charge brought against Atherton, So far as the record goes, his
troubles began on 17 June 1640. On that day, while the opposition majority
in the Irish Commons was preparing a detailed statement of ecclesiastical
grievances — most of them stemming from the discontented Ulster presbyterians -
it heard a petition presented by one John Child against the lord Bishop of
Waterford. i committee was at once appointed to bring the matter to the
attention of the lord depubty, and to request that bolth Child and Atherton be
placed in custody at once. The petition itself has not survived, but a
private letter of the time mekes it clear that it couteined a comprehensive
attack on Atherton's morals, Child both accused the bishop of acts of
fornication and adultery and claimed to have had homosexual relations with
him, In biblical language, the capital charge was sodomy: 1in the legal
terminology of the day, it was buggery. This had been 2o capital offence in
Ireland for only six years, the English legislation of & hundred years before
having been introduced to Ireland &s a result of the interest and rewvalsion
aroused by the trial and execution of the earl of Castlehavan for complicated
sexual offences in 1631. The charges ageinst Atherton had overtones of irony:
as a judge in the ecclesiastical courts he had been notoriously severe in his
judgements on sexual offenders; and to add to the piguancy, though he
strenously denied the charge of sodomy, he admitfted to the minor charges,
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We lknow nothing of the trisl, except that the bishop's attitude gove
widespread offence, and that he was found guilty on lovember 28. We know
1
!

‘._.
ol

even less about his accuser, John Chi of him, we kmow only that he was
hanged at Bandonbridge in Merchk 1641 'condemned thereto =2t the assizes holden
in Cork!', About Afherton's last days, we krow a great deal, because Hicholas
Bernard, Dean of Ardegh, who acted as his spiritual advisor, subsequently
published sn account under the title The penitant death of a woeful sinner.
Its theme was simple: that Atherton had fully and anthentically repented of
his meny sins, but that sodomy was not one of them. He had confessed to
'reading of naughty books, viewing of immodest pictures, frequenting of plays,
and drunkeness!; he hod sdmitted thot in religious wmotters he hed been more
attentive to seli-advencement that to spiritusl concerns:; he had claimed a
premonition, when recently !'the one who had corrupted him in his youth' had
visited him unexpectedly and . he hed felt o3 though a ghost hed come to warn
him of the 'present venzeance drawing nigh him'; he had been punctilious
about righting wrongs done to others, forgiving wrongs done to him, and pay-
ing his debts; he hed acknowledged thet he deserved to die, indeed he hed
said that a dog's death wes too good Tor him; but he had denied the charge
of homosexuality, and Bernerd believed him. The work was writton to declare
publicly thet Atherton hod been wrongly convicted. 1t was couched in the
form of & work of edification: 1ites ostensible themes were penitence and
regsignetion -~ but the reel intention was controversisl, and it was written at
the request of the Archbishop of Armagh, James Ussher.

Ussher'!s concern wes understandeble. The feoct is that 1640 was a bad
year for bishops. The growth of alternotive ideas about church structure,

particularly presbyterienism, together with dissatisfoction with the extensive
administrative and politiecel involvement ol bishops in unpopulor governments,
had gencroted attacks on the institution itself. Demards for reform, or
obolition, were becoming widespresd in both Englond and Ircland. The Atherton
case was grist to this mill, & poerfeet propaganda instrument in the campaign.
The politieal Tlavour is conveycd by the concluding words of an anonyuously
written pamphlet on the state of Irelend, dated Lpril 1641: 'when 2 bishop
shall be condemned for the sin of sodomy, it is time for the church to look
into and suppress them with their inereasing supersitition, idolatry and sheme-
ful iniquity.' At o lower level, the scnsationalist exploitation of the
episcde can be observed in o rhyming poamphlet published in London (about

March 1641). Its scope is puggested by ite title, The 1ife and death of
John Atherton, who for inecest, bugrzery and many other encrmous erimes, efter
heving lived & vicious lifc died o shomeful death: some examples will both
indicazte its cheracter and introduce new themes, to which we will revert -

'So fer baseness in him did proevail

thet vnto lust he set himself to sail,

deflowered virging, morricge beds defilced,

with mony other viecious crimes too vile

to be conceived, .« o

Lostly, througn pride, high fore snd lustful life
incest committed with the sister of his wife,

Tor which he sued his pardon ond then fled

to Ireland, whers a worser life he led.!

There is no explicit descripticn of this worsoer life, but the concluding
lines become cilrcumstoantial -

'3uppose = devil from the infernal pit,

more monster like than ere wos devil yet,
controry to course, taking & wmalce fiend

to scdomize with him: such was the mind

of this lord bishop; he did teke =2 Child,

by neme, not years, acting 2 sin so vile,

as is forensimed; end this Child a proctor too!.
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It was then, agasinst a background of this sort of publicity thet Barnerd
wrote. He believed that Atherton hed been maligned, and that his demeanour
in the face of death commanded respecv: but he alse hoped that to defend
Atherton would help to defend episcopacy. What he did not do was to suggest
eny explanation of the miscarriage of justice which he alleged to have taken
place.

Before long, the debate about episcopacy moved on to a different level,
Rebellion broke oul in Ireland, and clvil war in England, and eplscopacy
actually was abolished for some years, John Atherton slipped into the
background. His memory sirvived only because Barnerd's book remained
popular, and was printed sgain more then once, for a market that was clearly
more anxious te be scandalized than edified. Early in the eighteenth
century, however, ong reader was sufficiently puzzled by the incompleteness
of Barnard's defence to set about following up the guestion of why Atherton
should have been the wvictim of what appeared to be a false charge. This was
Dr., Jolm King, rector of Chelsea, who wrote to the incumbent bishop of
Waterford asking for information, in 1710. Bishop Thomas Mills replied that
all the 'crediteble and sensible’ peopie of tae diocese believed thet Atherton
had been imnocent and thought that 'he was brought to his death by the
contrivance and conspiracy of & certain munber of mea who were set to work
to prevent further frouble from the said bishop about lands in dispute between
them, and therefore they resclved to have him out of wthe way'. & little
later, the Chancellor of ithe diocese, sAlexander Alcock; wrote in greater detail,
alleging that the chief preosecutor had been the Recorder of Waterford, Piers
Butler, who was also one of those from whom /therton had recovered lands
(Tpartieulsrly the villages near this town'), which properly belonged to
the bishopric; ond that the chief witnesg had been a2 menial servant of the

bishop, 'a.most profligate, wicked ?QLIDJI' who fled to England after the
trial, and later, at his own execution, confessed to perjury. This man
(who does not appear to have been Child, whe was separately mentioned) was
widely believed to have been bribed by uiulpr? 2nd to have brought a conside-
erable sum of money to Ingland, Alcock concluded by reporting that Butler
had subseguently & ne mad and been haunted by Atherton's ghost, and that the
glost was now the scole occupant of Dutler's house.

On the basis of this information, Xing wrotce & pamphlet, arguing that
Atherton had been & litigious man, and an unscrupulous one, who had aroused
antagonism, even hatred, aznd become an easy tarset for false claims and
sllegations. His imnocence wae clear, not only because the chief witness
was a selfe~confessed perjurer, bulb also on commonscnsical grounds. To King,
it was inconceivable That & man long-married and 'of his years, education
and function should be guilty of so wmetural and brutal a piece of lust as
that he was charged with', And, following Bernard, he accepted that the
fact that Atherton had made 2 full confession, yet denied the charg:, was
conclusive.

The point was not to be settled as ecsily as Dr. King supposed, In the
following year, 17ll, & reply was published under the title Bishop Atherton's
case discussed, arna the level of interest in the debate is suggested by the
fact that it carried advertisements Lor eccounts of the Castlehavan case and
of the murder of the archbishop of 5t. Andrews (5h rp) in 1679. Apasrt from

brief, sanctironious and unianformative 1qbrocht4ﬂng the reply consisted of
two statements, One was by & man called John Price who c¢laimed to have been
present at Atherton's executlion, and whko provides us with our only physical
description of him: he wes 'a proper sirait perscn, of a brown blacldish hair!
with a brown beard, aged sbout 50. sccording to “rice, Atherton hed been
doubly charged; by his own servant with sodomy, ond by & women with rape. A
to the latter, the bishop was dismissive: 'he 531& ghe swore it, but God knows
what she is'. As to the former, he had publicly confessed his guilt before
execution in these words:

E
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'T em come to pay my last debt there, the first of wmy coat that I
know of in this kind. I pray Cod that I may be the last., I
believe it is known to you all that is laid to my charge, and for
which T received sentence of death. T 4o here before the Lgrd,
His holy engels and you all own the sentence against me to be just,
and that I was guilty of the cherge brought against me.'

This stands in direct contradiction to Bernerd. Unfortunetely, there seenms
to be no wey of evalusting it. Ao puriten minister called John Price was
appointed a fellow of T.C.D in the 16508 {3ITCD 1659)3 and this mey well have
been he, but we have no information as to when;, and in what circumstances,
the statement was made.

The author of the second statement, which ie very much longer and wmore
remarkable, is identifiable. He was the Rev., John Quick, a non-conformist
minister ol some notoriety in the Hestoration period, who set down, in 1690,
what he knew of certain events concerning itherton. The chief character in
his narrative was the wife of a merchent called Leakey, of Minchead in Somerset,
In 1636, her recently dead mother in law (who had been malking regular public
appearances in the harbouwr since her death) came o her privately end told her
1o go to Ireland to warn her uncle, the bishop of Vaterford, that 'unless he
doth repent of the sin whereof he knows himsellf guilty, he shall be hanged'.

The apparition proceeded to fill in the background. When John Atherton

'lodged at my brother's house in Darnsteble, he being then married

to my sister,; got my brother's daughter with child, and T delivered
her of a girl, which as soon 28 he had beptised I pinched the throat
of 1t and strangled it, and he smoked it over a pan of charcoal that
it might not stink, and buried it in the chember of the house!,

The younger Mrs. Leakeyheving first consulfed godly wministers, delivered the
message to Atherton, who replied, inscrutably, thoet 'if he was horn to be

hanged he should not be drowned'. Hrs, Leakey returned home and told the loecal
J.P.5, who reported to the Privy Council, but it was agreed that her source of
information did not measure up to the regquirements of legal proof, and the
matter was not pursued. However, three years loter, in 1639, = young men
called Cheamberlain who was aprrentice to the Town Clerk of Barnstaple, who

was none other than the elder lirs. Leakey's brother, wos troubled by apparitions -
g young woman with en infant, and an old nan. One nighv, the old men told him
where to find four boxes under the Tloox. Tn them, he would find two silwver
pots: one conteined gold, and he was to keep 1t: the other he was 1o bring
unopened to his master's married daughter in Weles, a Mrs. Betty, who was niece

.

to Bishop Atherton. Chamberlain did os he was ftold. A year later,

Mrs. Betty died, leaving all her property to her moid on condition that she
took the silver pot to Atherton ond delivered this message, 'that if he did not
repent of the sin he knew himself to be guilty of, he would be hanged’. The
terms of the will gave rise to curiosity end suspicion: & local justice of the
peace commandecred the pot, which was found to contain the skeleton of an
infant. The Privy Council was informed, end Atherion's arrest ordered - just
at the moment when his other crimes were cetching up with him in Dublin. It
should be said at once that the Privy Council register contains no reccrd of
this, and Quick, who was born in 1636, claimed no direct kmowledge. But he
wes from ncarby Devon, he stated his soureces of informaztion throughout, ond
there are, of course, echoces - of the rhyming penphlet's allegation of incest,
and of Atherton's own premonition of vongeance 'drawing nigh him! as a result
of a visit from 'the one who had corrupted him in his youth'.

Fonctheless, the pampialet cantributed nothing decisive. Neither Price's
brief statement nor Quick's fascineting ond circumstantial sccount came ncar
to meeting the most relaxed standards of proof, But at that point, the

accuwmulation of evidencc virtually ¢nded, and historiens were left to make up



their minds, onc way or the other, on gravely deficient information. In
fact, moat of them agreed with Burnerd, but o few were sceptieszl, principally
Welter Harris who argued, in the mid-13th century, thet there was at leest
one-man,sir James Ware, on the Irish Privy Council in 1640 who 'hed opportunities
enough of Ikmowing the truth and zeal enough to declare it, if therc had been
room to heve acquitted him'. A3 to cxplanation, two further elements were
introduced. In 1736, in his Life of Ormondc, Thomas Carte bluntly accused
Richard Boyle, earl of Cork, of having enginccersd Atherton's death in revenge
for the loss of the lands of the monor of Arvdmore. But he offered no proof:
the existence of the property dispute wos the sole basis for the cherge.

Much more recently, two twentieth century scholars, Canon Jourdan and Canon
Wimnett, heve been led by fresh evidence to prefer a different culprit. In
Marsh's Library, there arc certified copies of an order of the Irish house

of commons, dated 7 August 1641, It hed cscaped notice becouse it was not
recorded in the Jjournals of the housc, 1ts substance was to reverse a
judgement-in the Court of Chancery which had granted possession of episcopal
lends in the perish of Donaghmore in south Tipperery to Bishop Atherton, and
to direct Atherton's widow to return the income slresdy derived from the _
property, which was wvalued at £80 =& year. The beneficiary wes Piers Butler.
This was taken to confirm the suspicions of the Hecorder of Waterford reported
by Alcock. Its status &8 proof, of course, is exactly the same as that of
Carte's case ageinst the esrl of Cork.

If there can be said to be an zecepted view of ®0 little noticed zn
episode os the Atherton zffeir, it is that he was a grasping, greedy man whose
ettempts to increase his income by recovering church property brought him
into conflict with someone who eventuclly downed him by foul meens: he was,
in Carte's words, 'a sacrifice to litigation rother then to justice, when
he suffered for & pretended crime of o seeret noture!.

So fur as Ltherton's death is concerned, no fresh evidence has come to
light, but the opening up of the Iitzwilliam archive - which conteins the papers
of Lord Deputy Wentworth - has provided a number of scottered glimpses which
reveal a little more about his life and help to esteblish o slightly different
framework within which to consider his octivities. He cmerges as the cgent
of a coherent stote policy, rather thon as a single rapacious individual.

To understond his rele, onc needs to understond Wentworth's religious policy.
He recognized that it was futile to dragoon catholics into protestentism if
the Church of Ireland were not strong cunough and well orgonized enough to
receive them. 5o he mode no attenpt to interfere with catholie worship, butb
he did set ocut systemztically to prepare the ground for a wvery different
policy, and his diagnosis of the fundamental problems was stark and accurate.
Nominally, the church had e¢normous resources, in lond and tithes. In
practice, loymen had secured control of & large proportion of them; sometimes,
more or less legitimotely thirough long leases at low rents, but often by
fraudulent royal grants, gained by concealing the foact that the land was church
property. Purther, theose who had got possession of the londs of dissolved
monasteries had also received the right to collect ftithes. The net result
was that the church wos very poorly endowed, ond the average living very low.
In meny of the 5,000 parishes, the resources were insuificient to support ean
incumbent; in most of the rest, there was not enough to support = properly

gualified onec, 5o, there were too few clergy, perheps one for every six
parishes, and they were often of poor quality. The cose was the same 8ll the

way up the hierorchy. Wentworth believed in putting first things first:
to-suppress catholiecism, one must first have a vigorous olternative, and that
reguired MmMONey. lforeover, the resources were bhere, if they could he recovered
from those who enjoyed then. 30, he set himself to re-endow the church with
its rightful property, and he chose his bishops, ond many of the lower clergy,
with that cend in view, Spiritucl quelities were secondary: what he wanted

was tough minded men, greedily ambitious men, with the force of character to
resist local pressures and the driwve to bulld up the church materially. They
gtood to gain in the short term: the church stocod to goin in the long term.
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He elso needed an example, ond thers could be no doubt that Richard Boyle, who
had arrived in Ireland with o few pounds and who wes now earl of Cork, one cof
the governors that Wentworth succecded, and the richest man in the country,
was the man who hod omessed most ouurch property by the most devious meons,
If he could be forced to disgorge, then others would be easier to deal with,
These things were clear to Wentworth vory quickly, and they form the

essential bockground to Atherton's corcer,

His first appointment leaves no doubt thot it wos his legnl expertise
thot aitroeted Wentworth's attention. But we now lknow thot he played an
active port in Convocotion in 1634, Conveocation was the assembly of the
clergy, which sat eimultonecusly with parlinment. Usunlly, it concerned
itself with minor motters, poriticulorly toxing the clergy, which parliament
could not do.  But this onc wee vital, and difficult, for Wentworth used
it te bring the Irish and English churches into line, by having the independ-
ent Irish irticles reploceds by new ones wodelled on those of Inglond,
Atherton proved an effective supporter, and Wentworth rewarded him by cttcmpt-
ing to regulorize his position. He reguested his political ally cnd friend,
William Loud, crchbishop of Canterbury, to gront atherton o dispensation to
hold livings in Englond end Irelord ot the scme time - otherwise, Wentworth
observed, 'he would gein little of the exchonge ond cccount himself i1l
reworded for his poins!'. The result was an uncxpected rebuff: Teoud turned
downn the proposal as likely to be an 'evil ond scandalous example.! But
Atherton wes already showing his mettle: only & few months loter Wentworth
wes able to cssure Laud thot the dispensation was no longer required, ond
that Atherton would resign his FEnglish living: hLe hed, Wentworth reported9
'secured two good rectories from the petron who hed mode them lay-frees these
forty yeers' - in other words, hoving been cppointed to the pur¢she5 of
Killaban and Ballintubride, Atherton had forced the local impropriator to
restore the essociated propertics ond tithes to the livings, which he held

as an abgentee. It wos an impressive performonce, cnd it stood him in good
stecd. Towerds the end of 1635, the bishopric of Weterford and Iismore fell

vacant. It wos 2 classic dioceese so for o8 the problems of the church were
concerned: 1t had once been rich, ond wog now poor, ond its main despoiler
was the earl of Cork. Its rights cpd revenues a_d'“ needed to be restored,
but it would not be an Lo jentworth was convinced that Atherton was
the mon for the job, or, at least, for port of it - for what he czlled !'the
soliciting pert and recovering the rights of the bishopric', when he asked
Laud to reecommend Atherton to the king. Unee agoin, Loud wos uncooperative,
and suggested thot Wentworth should reconsider: 'Better Dr. Atherton thon o
worse!, he wrote, "though for my port I like nothing ot 2ll in hin but the
solieciting port!. Wentworth did not try to defend ‘therton. 'There is
exceptlion cgainst the mon, T confess', he replied, but he wos insistent

that itherfton hed the requisite gquelificotions for this porticulcr position:
if he were cppointed, 'Cork would think the devil is let loose upon him forth
of his choin. I will undertcke thet there is no such terrier in cll Englond
for the unkennelling of zn old fox'. Leud finclly cgreed, with rescrvetions:
'T confess clenrly o you, since 1 had speech with him in Bnplond, I hove ng
opimion either of his worth or honesiye I proy God I noy be deceived!,
Atherton beccme bishop, ot lagt resigred his Somerset living, but wos cllowed
te retain both his Chonecellorship of Christ Church, Dublin, znd his rectory
of Killeban until the revenues of his new diocese hod been recovered,

This correspondence is irritetingly reticent. Ome gets the clear
impression that Leuwd and Wentworth lmew exocetly whot they were tolkingabout.
Whatever it wos, it seems obvious thot coven before Atherton beccme o bishop

there wos considcrable doubt zs to whether he woas fit to be one, There may
be 2 hint in the foet thot Atherton ond Leud hed met, in circumstances uarkedly
unfaVourcble to Atherton. Leud hod been bishop of Both ond Wells, oand there-

fore #Atherton's direct superior, from 1626 to 1628, The rhyme, it moy be
recalled, clleged:

'Incest comritted with the sister of his wi:

for which he sued his pordon cnd then fled ta Irelend..ss
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and Quick, much later, made & similar accusation involving the niece of his
wife. If Atherton did sue perdon for incest, it would heve been frow his
bishop, and that might well have been Laud, essuming that Atherton was in
Irelend for sowme time before securing his appointment in 5t. Johns. To
speculate thus, it might well be felt, is to take rumour too seriously: all
we know for certain is that Atherton left England precipitately, leaving a
bad impression behind him. But we can at least now say also, that the Rev.
John Quick's account is not entirely a work of the imeginetion, for lrs. Leakey
and her mother in law's ghost came to Archbishop Leud's notice in December 1636,
-His account to Ventworth is not so detailed as Quick's narrative, but; just
as the date agrees, so the outline is corrcborative. lirs. Leakey's mother
in law, who had been two ycars dead, had appeared to her and told her to go
to Ireland tc deliver a message to the bishop of Waterford, and to no one else.
This seems to have given rise to some speculation, if one attends to the
nuances of Leud's wording: 'You may believe what you list of this, but some
people of very good guality do affirm this and a great deal more'. Wentworth
did not take the matter very seriously: 'I will enguire after lirs. Leakey
arid her errand', he wrote back, 'and will learn what the devil has to say to
the bishop of Waterford. Sure T am that the earl of Cork wishes them
together already'. It is not clear whether she actually came to Ireland:
TLaud thought not. In the ering of 1637, however, be reported +thet she had
been exemined not only by two justices of the peace, but alsc by the bishop
of Bath and Wells, and they had judged her story to be untrue, In fact,
they did not hear all of it: it secms that she was prepared to reveal the
megsage only to the king in person -- and this was not followed up. Teud's
opinion is interesting, in & negative way: he did not directly connect this
odd happening with his previous doubts about Atherton, but he did conclude
that lirs. Leakey was ' cunning young women'! who wes veally hoping for money.
He may perhaps seewm to have been toaking it for granted that John Atherton

was not an unsuitable subject for blaclaneil. Wentworth picked up that
inference, and it amuscd him greatly: 'I hear nothing more of lirs. Leakey

or her familiar,' he wrote, 'but if money be that they =im at, it must be

a strong and crafty devil that gets anything out of the bishop's pursef

He had, in fact, every reason to be satisfied with the success of his
episcopal protegee. In Waterford, Atherton had gone to war on the earl of
Corlk, In less than a year, he recovered the site of the bishop's palace in
Waterford (which he later rebuilt), together with lands worth £40 & year.
This was no more than an appetizer. He went on to sue for the abrogation
of leases by which Cork held extensive lands, particularly the menors of
Tismore and Ardmore: his legalistic point was thot the leases had been
granted by the bishop alone, without the approval of the deans and chapters.
of the cathedrols of Waterford and Iismore. It was & point which, if it
had been established, would have invalidated almost every lease of episcopal
land in the country. That would have made it an uncomfortably large precedent:
nearly every influentizl member of the administration had leases which would
become vulnerzsble. There was, therefore strong pressure for arbitraticn
rather than legal process, ond a deal was done (August 1637: Parsons and Bramhall):
the land was divided, and Atherton received Ardmore menor (valued at £500 a
yedar), and a capital sum of £500 to build an episcopal residence., Thet he
was indeed = formidable opponent was guickly shown, for he then proceeded to
attack the settlement itself from = totally different direction. Wew men
were moved intc the Lismore: first a treasurer, then the archdeacon and
finally (in Mey 1640) the dean were replaced, Cork's influence (the dean
had been his cousin)was broken, and coch of the new men ot once begahl legal
ection to recover the cathedral lends elletted to Cork in the arbitration
settlement.

411 of this wes part of a long term plan, in which Atherton was Wentworth's
cgent. The same sort of thing, less dramatically, was going on in many
diccescus, But Atherton was also an innovator, who devised a strotegem which
proved useful elsewhere. One of the church's problems was lay patronage:
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that is, the right to nominate clergy to particular benefices belonged to lay-
men, whose choice the bishop was bound to accept, =o that the church had only
incomplete control over 1ts cwn appointments. This was en 2bsolute right, indeed
& piece of privcocte property which could be bought and sold, but it was held sub-
ject to one condition. It hed to be exercised: if a living was left vacant,

the right reverted to the bishop. hAtherton's proctice was simple. He persualed
clergy nominated by private individuals not to mcke formal scpplicetion for
institution. After the reguisite interval, he filed & sult and secured a judge-

i

ment that the patron hed dcefaulted and that the right of presentzstion had there-
fore lapsed and reverted te the bishop.

In 1638, notwithstanding rs. Leckey's mother in law, Wentworth pressed
Atherton's claime for further preferment. fin dideal opportunity had been
Creeted by the prowmotion of the bishop of Cork to the archdiocese of Tuom.

Wentworth recommended Atherton in characteristic fterms as 'a mervellous

ingtrument to gettle the bishbpric of Uork, Cannc and Hess by recovering at
least £800 o yeer to those churches!', £z it happened, Loud had his own condidate,
William Chuppully Provost of T.C.D.: thh ﬂt“ deferred to his wishes, and
Atherton remeined in Weterford, not fto roappear until Child's petition ageinst
him was presented to the Commons in June 1640,

There are & few things That coil be fadrly said sbout all this:  that there
is 2 strong proocb?11+c tJCt John Avtherton wos 2 men of doubtful morael charscter -
but that does not necessarily sugszest his guilt of the cherges cgainst him; it
may eimply explain why L; was vulnerable to rigged cheorges: similarly, that
Atherfton wag not merely a thorn in the Tlesh of the earl of Cork, and others, but
port of o concerted P*“tQ programmne of recovering church property -~ o greedy man,
certainly, but one whese rapaceity weos gecrcd to the serviece of the govermment and
chruch as well a8 to his own benefit. 11 may well be significant thet the petition
ageinst him was received con the doy on walch ecclesiaestical grievances were being
discussed, for it connects with an intceresting silence. The grievaonces expressed
werc COHCLTFOd with matters of cdministration and rituel, with the recent
insistence upon @y unpopular conformity 4o the Articles odopted in 16%4, and with
the alleged injustices of the Court of High Comrdission. The recovery of church
property could not be mentioned - bhut o most it was the prime grievance. The
opportunity to discredit o lcoding proponent of that policy must have been
attrective, and it is ecasy to sce why & Comnons with a working Poalition majority
of cetholics and non--coaformists (a1l of thew scculor landowners) should have
been receptive to Child's petition, particulorly since his patron, Wentworth,
hed left Ireland. The timing alone suggests that the presentation of the
petition wes not coincidental: that the attack, in s 1)ﬂu) was managed. And
the questions that arise - hy whom ? and why 7 - remein the same whether the
charges were well founded or not.

Three centuries have thrown up two cnswers, the earl of Cork ond the

recorder of VWaterford. The faet that the earl of Cork was out of Ireland through-
cut the entire relevant period sneed mean nething: he had plenty of people who
' A

were willing to do his wor< for him. ut the only small picce of evidence scems

to point in the wrong direction, that evidence consists of on act of the Irish
parliament, 2 October, 1640, an act 'econcerning the esrl of Cork and
John, Tord Bishop of Iismore' fo give it 1ts short title. In substance,; it was
a Fformel rotification of the arbitration settlenent relating e Ardmore and
Tismore in 1637, which hed divided the property between the two. It hos been
presumed thot the zct wos vromoted hy Ucrk to secure his share. In fact, his

share had zlready bezen considersbly reduced by a scries of independent actions,
end he can no longer have had much to goin fLom »atificotion. It seems more
likely thet the oot was the government'!s means of ensuring thet Atherton's
disgroce would not prejudice the goins thet he had mode for the chruch. Moreowver,
one needs to progserve o sense of provortion: Idsmore was ccetuclly one of the
smaller losses sustoined by the ecx]l of Cork in the sixteen-thirties, and his’
special animus was dirvected agoinst Wentworth. His doy come on 12 lMaoy 1641,

when he had the sotisfaction of moking o di;r; record of the execution of Ventworth
for high trecson 'as he well deserved' . In that episcde,Cork had ployed his port.
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The cese cgoinst FPiers Butler is very insubstonticl. In foet, it rests
solely on local rumour recorded seventy yecrs after the event, for the dllegedly
corroborctory evidence of his embroilment in o property dispute with Atherton
refers to the wrong property and the wrong mon. The Piers Butler who contested
Donaghmore with the bishop of Waterford wocs the son of Lord Cchiry, not the
recorder of the ecity, who was young (he entered Grey's Imn in Tondon in 1635),
cnd not porticularly well connected. He was, moreover, o catholic: and
Atherton emphaticelly assured Bornord thot 'none of the Romish sect, though
differing from me in points of religion, hod o hond in this compleint agoinst
me'.,

If the cose cgoinst Butler is to be discounted,; s it must be if one
prefers Atherton's explicit stoteuent to the gossip of loter gencrotions, ond
if the earl of Cork was, ot the most, off-stoge, then what cre the pogssibilities?
On o purely speculotive level therce seem to me o be two, not necessorily
seporcte from one another, since onerclcotes to the strotegy while the other
concerns timing ond motive.

The first crises from the suggestive resemblonce between the chorges mode
pgoinst John Atherton cond the chaorges which hod been preferred nine yecrs ecrlier
egainst the ecxl of Cestlenovan, The circumstances were very different:
Castlehavon wos clleged to hove hod sexusl relotions with o menservant (en
Irishmon, cclled Pitzpatrick), ond with hoving forced his wife to hove sexunl
reletions with the some man: he was chorged with sodomy ond repe. find so
2lso, it seems, on the explicit evidence of John Price and the implicit evidence
of o contemporary letter, wos Atherton. Of course, it moy be simply o
coinecidence thot the two celebroted scondolous coges of the period should haove
involved simiiorly deouble-borreled chorges of bi-sexucl offences, but it may
equally be that the first was the wmodel for the second. One ncturally looks for
connections, They are not necesscry to the argument, becouse the Castlehavan
coge wes notorious, but they do exist,. In generzl, Costlehavan had Irish
interests as o plonter in County Tyrone. More directly, o rather sinister
Queen's County cdventurer called Sir Piers Crosby, who hod been ot the centre
of o grect denl of intrigue cgoinst Lord Deputy Wentworth in the 1630s, aond who
was mixed up with the porlicmentory opposition in 1640, wos morried to the
earl's widowed mother. lorcover, the most cetive porlicmentory spokesman of
the Northern opposition in the Irish commons, Sir Audley ilervynm, was the eorl's
nephew: indeed, he was nomed after him (Castlehaven hod been Lord Audley ot the
time of Mervyn's birth). Of course, it need not follow thot these men used
the Castlehovan 'buggery and repe! formulc to cttack Atherton: but it is
possible thot thelr special knowledgn come in useful.

The second line of thought is suggested by the very different problems
encountered by cnother bishop, archibold Adeoir, instzlled os bishop of Killelle
in 1630. In 1639, there hod arrived in his diocese o fellow Scot colled Corbet,
o minister who hod published con unpopulcr pomphlet ottecking the Scots
covenanters who were then orginizing ogoinst King Chorles. Corbet hod token
refuge in Irelond, goined Wentworth's goodwill, aond brought o letter of recom-
mendotion with him to Mayo. Adalr ond Corbet hod ongry words: Corbet reported
the bishop to Wentworth cs = supporter of the Scots Covenanters, cond he wos
arreigned before the Court of High Ccmmission, where John Litherton wos notebly
virulent cgoinst hin. He wos judged guilty ond fornclly degroded from his
episcopal stotus on 18 May 1640, excetly one month before the attack (or counter
ottack ?) on John Atherton wes publicly launched. His reinstatement wos adopted
as one of the sins of the porlicmentory opposition, ond clmost excetly one year
loter the court's decision was revoked by the king ond Adoir wos restored,

But the Killalle voconcy hod already been filled, s¢ his new —ppointment wos to
the voacant bishopric of “aoterford ond Lismore. fdeir's patron throughout his
Irish coreer - the mon who secured his diniticl cppointrent ind presented the
petition for his pardon cnd reinstotement to the king - wos Sir Robert Stewort,
o Tyrowe based plonter cnd an opposition member (for Londondcrry) of the 1640
parlicment. There moy be some comnection here.
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hs yet, there seems to be no way of deciding the point, just as there is no
wey of deciding whether John Atherton was immocent or guilty &s charged, so
that this file must remasin forever open - so long, at least, as it depends

on conventional sources of information. There is always the hope of 2 visit
from Mrs. Leskey's mother in law, or perhaps, in Waterford, John Atherton
himself.

(Professor Clarke feels that further informstion on Bishop Atherton may be
available in Waterford and would like to add such informetion to his "file'.
Do let us know of enything relevont - B )

PUBLICATIONS OF LOCAL HISTORICAL INTEREST -

Weterford City Dreft Developnent Plan, 1978,

While this Plan is not intended o an historicel document its conclusions
will be scen as significant for historians here, They will be cheered to
read, "it is the policy of the Plaaning siuthority to prescrve and protect
buildings, structures and features of historic, architectural, archaeoclogiccal
or artistic interest which contribute to the cheracter of the city".
Substantieting this 15 a list of sixty five items for preservation - walls,
towers, bridges, public buildings, old churches and many other structures and
features., idded to this is 2 further list of thirty one interior fixtures
for preservation. This i= & most interesting list, identifying good stair-
cases, plasterwork, woodwork, fireplaces and other features in public bulldings,
shops, pubs ond privote houge

A second category lists bulldings cnd features for protection, These
include thirty one "Good traditional shop fronts which will be protected and
which should not be altered without pricor plenning permission'. There is
a further wide-renging list of ninety one buildings ond other structures,
Victoriaen mainly, which are to be protected. Historions will be particularly
pleacsed to note that Blackfriers is to be made sccessible arnd that the Watch
Tower is to be repeired and made aveilable for suitable use.

Perheps more significant than the preservetion of individusl features
is the concept of "Canservaotion arecs' which, "reguire special core in dealing
with development proposals which offect unlisted buildings". Such is "the
triangular area of the 0ld Donish City Areo with additional eighteenth
century areass combined, l.e. The Mall, Poranell and Cotherine Streeta”
Perticularly mentioned for conservotion is "the strectscape of medieval street
petterns” in the medieval tricngl:.

This, thercfore, is a most encouraging document. Implicit throughout
is a concern that-Woterford's post will be preserved, cnd not just in the
shadow of 4ransient twentieth ocentury structures but as & focus cnd theme for
future development. It is pointless now to bewoil what is lost but we can

be thankful srr, amd indeed proud of, the enlighted attitideés which this Plan
gives expression to,
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(from page 2)
) Milling and-Co., linen drapers, haberdashers and silk
mercers' premises was at 4, Little Georges St..

283 It seems thht Holden was succeeded at 1, Broad St.,
by J.W. Delahunty. :

(These illustrations are by Mrs. Susanne Brophy)
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QLD WARTERPORD S DO BY

PROGRAMME OF SUMMER ACTIVITIES 1979.

MAY 13th: Coach Trip to Burren. Ieaving City Hell at 10 a.m.

Subscription £2.00

MAY 20th:  MESIT TO CARRICK-ON-SUIR-AND.SURRDUNDINGS. conducted by Di.
Patrick ZPower, Ballyneale. Leparture rrom City Hall at
2.30 pem. to assemble at Carrick Castle at 3 p.m.

JUNE 10th: A TOUR OF THE BLACK ABBEY AND ROTHE HOUSE, KILKENNY
Leaving City Hall at 2.30 p.m. to arrive at Abbey at 3,15 p.nm.

JUNE 24th: VISIT 7O THOMASTOWN, JERPOINT ABBEY AND GOWRAN
Assemble at Jerpoint 2t 3 p.m.

JULY 8th: VISIT TO FERNS, ENNISCORTHY AND VINEGAR HILL.
Departure from City Hall at 2 p.m.

AUG.12th: QUTING TO KELLS PRIORY AND KIIREA.
Conducted by Rewv. Dr. Empey.
Leave City Hall at 2,30 p.m. tc arrive in Kells at 3.30 p.m.

AUG.23rd EVENING TRIP. TO TRAMORE
Assembly at Church Car Pork | Holy Cross at 7.30.
Conducted by Mr. D. Cowman,

SEPT,9th: AFTERNOON TOUR OF CITY OF WATERFORD with Mr. Frank Heylin.
Assemble at City Hall at 3 p.m.

MID=SEPT. : Digtribution af DECIES 12 tH members,

SEPT.21st: "IRISH COUNTRY HOUSES 160C - 1800", A lecture by

Mr. Wm. Garner, M.A., H.Dip.Ed., Arch,History.
In Teachers' Centre, 31 The all, Waterford.

B e R L s o

The public are invited to come to these lectures and activities and join
the Society. Alternatively, intending members may send £2.50 subscription
for membership to the Hom. Treasurer:-

Mrs. R. Tumley, 28, Daisy Terrace, Waterford.

Enguiries re Decies to :-

Noel Cassidy, "Lisacul", Marien Perk, Weterford ('Phone 3130)
Editorisl Matter.to :-

Des Cowmen, "Knockane", Annestown, Co.Waterford (96157)




	The Marriage of Thomas Wyse and Letitia Bonaparte. By Eileen Holt
	Notes on Settlement at Rossmire, Co. Waterford. By John Mulholland
	Aspects of Passage East (Part II). By Julian C. Walton
	Rev. Daid Alfred Doudney and Educational Establishments at Bunmahon, Co. Waterford, 187-'58. (Part II). By Thomas Power
	Land Ownership in East Waterford, 1640-1703. By J.S Carroll
	The Atherton File. By Aidan Clarke
	Summer Programmw of the Old Waterford Society

